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GLOSSARY OF TERMS
Below is a list of terms that are common to our industry and used throughout this document:

/day

= per day

Mcf

= thousand cubic feet

Bbls

= barrels

Mcfe

= thousand cubic feet of natural gas equivalents

Bcfe

= billion cubic feet of natural gas
equivalents

MMBtu

= million British thermal units

Btu

= British thermal unit

MMcf

= million cubic feet

When we refer to natural gas and oil in “equivalents,” we are doing so to compare quantities of oil with quantities of natural gas or to express these
different commodities in a common unit. In calculating equivalents, we use a generally recognized standard in which one Bbl of oil is equal to six Mcf of
natural gas. Also, when we refer to cubic feet measurements, all measurements are at a pressure of 14.73 pounds per square inch.
References in this report to (1) “us”, “we”, “our”, “the Company”, “Vanguard” or “VNR” are to Vanguard Natural Resources, LLC and its
subsidiaries, including Vanguard Natural Gas, LLC, Trust Energy Company, LLC, (“TEC”), VNR Holdings, Inc. (“VNRH”), Ariana Energy, LLC,
(“Ariana Energy”) and Vanguard Permian, LLC, (“Vanguard Permian”) and (2) “Vanguard Predecessor”, “Predecessor”, “our operating subsidiary” or
“VNG” are to Vanguard Natural Gas, LLC.

PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements
VANGUARD NATURAL RESOURCES, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended
June 30,
2007

2008

Revenues:
Natural gas and oil sales
Realized losses on derivative contracts
Total revenues

$

Six Months Ended
June 30,

20,849,911 $
(5,749,947)
15,099,964

2007

2008

10,106,737 $
(918,044)
9,188,693

34,850,008 $
(6,900,419)
27,949,589

19,068,353
(1,665,852)
17,402,501

1,636,675
—
1,428,965
8,695,740

1,314,041
2,291,426
781,198
—
380,110
4,766,775

4,315,753
6,154,002
3,282,466
—
2,395,078
16,147,299

2,460,420
4,320,289
1,215,489
1,007,458
890,992
9,894,648

6,404,224

4,421,918

11,802,290

7,507,853

4,394
(1,244,450 )
—
(1,240,056)

14,679
(2,196,691)
—
(2,182,012)

12,008
(2,374,110)
—
(2,362,102)

27,646
(4,419,814 )
(2,501,528)
(6,893,696)

Costs and expenses:
Lease operating expenses

2,300,076

Depreciation, depletion and amortization

3,330,024

Selling, general and administrative expenses
Bad debt expense
Taxes other than income taxes
Total costs and expenses
Income from operations

Other income and (expense):
Interest income
Interest expense

Loss on extinguishment of debt
Total other expense, net

$

5,164,168

$

2,239,906

$

9,440,188

$

614,157

Common & Class B units - basic

$

0.46

$

0.38

$

0.84

$

0.11

Common & Class B units - diluted

$

0.46

$

0.38

$

0.84

$

0.11

Net income
Net income per unit:

Weighted average units outstanding:
Common units - basic & diluted

10,795,000

5,540,000

10,795,000

5,540,000

420,000

296,813

420,000

149,227

Class B units - basic & diluted

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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VANGUARD NATURAL RESOURCES, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

June 30,

December 31,

2008

2007

(unaudited)

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade accounts receivable, net
Derivative assets
Other current assets
Total current assets

$

Property and equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Machinery and equipment
Less: accumulated depreciation
Total property and equipment

3,900,503
10,825,985
—
719,273
15,445,761

$

109,594
163,677

72,893
138,719
(45,157)
166,455

(70,234)

203,037

Natural gas and oil properties, net - full cost method

3,109,563
4,372,731
4,017,085
453,198
11,952,577

184,705,095

106,983,349

702,079
973,191
45,963
1,061,309
203,136,435

1,329,511
941,833
8,285,883
1,519,577
131,179,185

Other assets
Derivative assets
Deferred financing costs
Non-current deposits
Other assets

$

Total assets

$

Liabilities and members’ equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable - trade
Accounts payable - natural gas and oil
Payables to affiliates

$

Derivative liabilities
Accrued expenses

Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Derivative liabilities
Asset retirement obligations

Total liabilities

947,507
1,034,750
4,161,308
27,109,030
3,435,907
36,688,502

$

1,056,627
257,073
3,838,328
—
203,159
5,355,187

102,500,000

37,400,000

47,582,633
1,532,881
188,304,016

5,903,384
189,711
48,848,282

91,303,423
3,804,273
(80,275,277)

90,257,856
2,131,995
(10,058,948)

Commitments and contingencies

Members’ equity
Members’ capital, 10,795,000 common units issued and outstanding at June 30, 2008 and
December 31, 2007
Class B units, 420,000 issued and outstanding at June 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007
Other comprehensive loss

Total members’ equity

$

Total liabilities and members’ equity
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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14,832,419
203,136,435

$

82,330,903
131,179,185

VANGUARD NATURAL RESOURCES, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Unaudited)
Six Months Ended
June 30,
2007

2008

Operating activities
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation, depletion and amortization
Amortization of deferred financing costs
Bad debt expense
Unit-based compensation
Amortization of premiums paid and non-cash settlements on derivative contracts
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Trade accounts receivable
Payables to affiliates
Other current assets
Price risk management activities, net
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

$

Investing activities
Additions to property and equipment
Additions to natural gas and oil properties
Acquisitions of natural gas and oil properties
Deposits and prepayments of natural gas and oil properties

9,440,188

$

6,154,002
173,045
—
1,896,347
2,531,193

4,320,289

(6,453,254)
614,969
(219,422)
(442,840)
668,556
3,158,729
17,521,513

(322,027)
(2,083,796)
(12,372)
(8,475,676)
2,393,459
(1,713,858)
(2,833,485 )

(61,659)
(6,677,962)
(66,389,952)

(31,211)
(6,132,607)
—
(455,883)
(6,619,701)

142,234

1,007,458
563,143
733,504

48,074

(73,081,499)

Net cash used in investing activities
Financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayment of debt
Contributions from members
Distributions to members
Financing costs
Offering costs
Purchase of units for unit-based compensation

114,600,000
(99,667,500)
41,221,000
(41,220,000 )
(1,194,270)
(1,571,993)
—
12,167,237

74,400,000
(9,300,000 )

—
(8,254,240 )
(204,403)
(54,192)
(236,239)
56,350,926

Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period

614,157

790,940

2,714,051

3,109,563

1,730,956

$

3,900,503

$

4,445,007

$

1,802,039

$

4,826,132

Asset retirement obligations

$

1,309,854

$

155,800

Assumption of fixed-price oil swaps

$

1,128,114

$

—

Deferred swap liability

$

—

$

7,322,685

Initial contribution of assets

$

—

$

3,289,055

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period
Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest
Non-cash financing and investing activities:

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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VANGUARD NATURAL RESOURCES, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended
June 30,
2007

2008

$

Net income
Net gains (losses) from cash flow hedging activities:
Unrealized mark-to-market gains (losses) arising during the
period
Reclassification adjustments for changes in initial value to
settlement date
Other comprehensive income (loss)

Comprehensive income (loss)

$

5,164,168

Six Months Ended
June 30,

$

2,239,906

2007

2008

$

9,440,188

$

614,157

(55,847,350)

698,959

(75,949,453)

(10,966,008)

4,765,055
(51,082,295)

911,890
1,610,849

5,733,124
(70,216,329)

507,743
(10,458,265)

(45,918,127) $

3,850,755

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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$

(60,776,141) $

(9,844,108 )

VANGUARD NATURAL RESOURCES, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)

1.

Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation
Vanguard Natural Resources, LLC is a publicly-traded limited liability company focused on the acquisition, development and exploitation of
mature, long-lived natural gas and oil properties in the United States. Through our operating subsidiaries, we own properties in the southern portion of the
Appalachian Basin, primarily in southeast Kentucky and northeast Tennessee and in the Permian Basin, primarily in West Texas and Southeastern New
Mexico.

References in this report to (1) “us”, “we”, “our”, “the Company”, “Vanguard” or “VNR” are to Vanguard Natural Resources, LLC and its
subsidiaries, including Vanguard Natural Gas, LLC, Trust Energy Company, LLC, (“TEC”), VNR Holdings, Inc. (“VNRH”), Ariana Energy, LLC,
(“Ariana Energy”) and Vanguard Permian, LLC, (“Vanguard Permian”) and (2) “Vanguard Predecessor”, “Predecessor”, “our operating subsidiary” or
“VNG” are to Vanguard Natural Gas, LLC.

We were formed in October 2006 but effective January 5, 2007, Vanguard Natural Gas, LLC (formerly Nami Holding Company, LLC) was
separated into our operating subsidiary and Vinland Energy Eastern, LLC ("Vinland"). As part of the separation, we retained all of our Predecessor’s proved
producing wells and associated reserves. We also retained 40% of our Predecessor’s working interest in the known producing horizons in approximately
95,000 gross undeveloped acres and a contract right to receive approximately 99% of the net proceeds from the sale of production from certain producing gas
and oil wells. In the separation, Vinland was conveyed the remaining 60% of our Predecessor’s working interest in the known producing horizons in this
acreage, 100% of our Predecessor’s working interest in depths above and 100 feet below our known producing horizons, all of our gathering and compression
assets and all employees other than our President and Chief Executive Officer and our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. Vinland acts as
the operator of our existing wells and all of the wells that we drill in Appalachia. We refer to these events as the "Restructuring."

In October 2007, we completed our initial public offering (“IPO”) of 5.25 million units representing limited liability interests in VNR at $19.00 per
unit for net proceeds of $92.8 million after deducting underwriting discounts and fees of $7.0 million. The proceeds were used to reduce indebtedness under
our Credit Facility by $80.0 million and the balance was used for the payment of accrued distributions to pre-IPO unitholders and the payment of a deferred
swap obligation.

VNG was formed in Kentucky on December 15, 2004 and its principal business is to hold interests in TEC, VNRH, Ariana Energy and Vanguard
Permian. TEC was formed in Kentucky on December 15, 2004 and its principal business consists of natural gas and oil development and exploitation of
mature, long-lived natural gas and oil properties in the Appalachian region of eastern Kentucky. VNRH was formed in Delaware on March 28, 2007 and its
principal business was to provide general employment related services, including payroll and employment administration, as well as information technology
and communication services to VNR. However, as of January 1, 2008, it no longer provides these services as they have been outsourced to a third party and
has limited operating activity. Ariana Energy was formed in Tennessee on April 26, 2002 and its principal business consists of natural gas and oil
development and exploitation of mature, long-lived natural gas and oil properties in Tennessee. Vanguard Permian was formed in Delaware on December 21,
2007 and its principal business consists of natural gas and oil development and exploitation of mature long-lived natural gas and oil properties in Texas and
Southeastern New Mexico.

The consolidated financial statements as of June 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007 and for the three months and six months ended June 30, 2008 and
2007 include the accounts of VNR, VNG, TEC, VNRH, Ariana Energy and Vanguard Permian.
We prepared this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q under the rules and regulations of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission
(“SEC”). Because this is an interim period filing presented using a condensed format, it does not include all of the disclosures required by U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles. You should read this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q along with our 2007 Annual Report on Form 10-K/A, which contains a
summary of our significant accounting policies and other disclosures. The financial statements as of June 30, 2008, and for the three months and six months
ended June 30, 2008 and 2007, are unaudited. We derived the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2007, from the audited balance sheet filed in our
2007 Annual Report on Form 10-K/A. In our opinion, we have made all adjustments which are of a normal, recurring nature to fairly present our interim
period results. Information for interim periods may not be indicative of our operating results for the entire year. Additionally, our financial statements for prior
periods include reclassifications that were made to conform to the current period presentation. Those reclassifications did not impact our reported net income,
members’ equity, or net cash flows. Furthermore, all intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in the consolidated financial statements.
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VANGUARD NATURAL RESOURCES, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
As of June 30, 2008, the Company’s significant accounting policies are consistent with those discussed in Note 1 of the Company’s consolidated
financial statements contained in the Company’s 2007 Annual Report on Form 10-K/A.
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157 “Fair Value
Measurements” (“SFAS 157”). SFAS 157 introduces a framework for measuring fair value and expands required disclosure about fair value measurements
of assets and liabilities. On February 6, 2008, the FASB issued a final FASB Staff Position (“FSP”) No. FAS 157-b, “ Effective Date of FASB Statement
No. 157”. This FSP delays the effective date of SFAS 157 for all non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities, except those that are recognized or
disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis. In addition, the FSP removes certain leasing transactions from the scope of SFAS 157.
The effective date of SFAS 157 for non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities has been delayed by one year to fiscal years beginning after November
15, 2008 and interim periods within those fiscal years. SFAS 157 for financial assets and liabilities is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15,
2007, and the Company prospectively adopted the standard for those assets and liabilities as of January 1, 2008. See Note 6. Fair Value Disclosures.
In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities, including an
amendment of FASB Statement No. 115” (“SFAS 159”), which permits companies to choose, at specified dates, to measure certain eligible financial
instruments at fair value. The objective of SFAS 159 is to reduce volatility in preparer reporting that may be caused as a result of measuring related financial
assets and liabilities differently and to expand the use of fair value measurements. The provisions of SFAS 159 apply only to entities that elect to use the fair
value option and to all entities with available-for-sale and trading securities. Additional disclosures are also required for instruments for which the fair value
option is elected. SFAS 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. No retrospective application is allowed, except for companies that
choose to adopt early. At the effective date, companies may elect the fair value option for eligible items that exist at that date, and the effect of the first
remeasurement to fair value must be reported as a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings. Effective January 1, 2008, the
Company adopted SFAS 159 and the adoption did not have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

New Pronouncements Issued But Not Yet Adopted
In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (revised 2007), “Business Combinations” (“SFAS 141(R)”), which replaces FASB Statement
No. 141. SFAS 141(R) establishes principles and requirements for how an acquirer recognizes and measures in its financial statements the identifiable assets
acquired, the liabilities assumed, any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the goodwill acquired. The Statement also establishes disclosure requirements
that will enable users to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business combination. SFAS 141(R) is effective for acquisitions that occur in an
entity’s fiscal year that begins after December 15, 2008, which will be our fiscal year 2009. The impact, if any, on the consolidated financial statements will
depend on the nature and size of business combinations that we consummate after the effective date.
In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, “Non-controlling Interests in Consolidated Financial statements—an amendment of ARB
No. 51” (“SFAS 160”). SFAS 160 requires that accounting and reporting for minority interests will be recharacterized as non-controlling interests and
classified as a component of equity. SFAS 160 also establishes reporting requirements that provide sufficient disclosures that clearly identify and distinguish
between the interests of the parent and the interests of the non-controlling owners. SFAS 160 applies to all entities that prepare consolidated financial
statements, except not-for-profit organizations, but will affect only those entities that have an outstanding non-controlling interest in one or more subsidiaries or
that deconsolidate a subsidiary. This statement is effective as of the beginning of an entity’s first fiscal year beginning after December 15, 2008, which will be

our fiscal year 2009. Based upon the June 30, 2008 balance sheet, SFAS 160 would have no impact on the consolidated financial statements.
In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, “Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” (“ SFAS 161”). SFAS
161 is intended to improve financial reporting about derivative instruments and hedging activities by requiring enhanced disclosures to enable investors to
better understand their effects on an entity’s financial position, financial performance, and cash flows. SFAS 161 achieves these improvements by requiring
disclosure of the fair values of derivative instruments and their gains and losses in a tabular format. It also provides more information about an entity’s
liquidity by requiring disclosure of derivative features that are credit risk-related. Finally, it requires cross-referencing within footnotes to enable financial
statement users to locate important information about derivative instruments. SFAS 161 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years and interim
periods beginning after November 15, 2008, with early application encouraged. We are currently evaluating the impact of adopting SFAS 161 on our
consolidated financial statements.
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VANGUARD NATURAL RESOURCES, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)
In May 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 162, “The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles ” (“SFAS 162”). SFAS 162
identifies a consistent framework, or hierarchy, for selecting accounting principles to be used in preparing financial statements that are presented in conformity
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles for non-governmental entities (the “Hierarchy”). The Hierarchy within SFAS 162 is consistent with that
previously defined in the AICPA Statement on Auditing Standards No. 69, “The Meaning of Present Fairly in Conformity With Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles.” SFAS 162 is effective 60 days following the United States Securities and Exchange Commission’s approval of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board amendments to AU Section 411, “The Meaning of Present Fairly in Conformity With Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles.” The adoption of SFAS 162 is not expected to have any effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations, or cash
flows.

Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the Unites States of America requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The most significant estimates pertain to
proved natural gas and oil reserves and related cash flow estimates used in impairment tests of natural gas and oil properties, the fair value of derivative
contracts and asset retirement obligations, natural gas and oil revenues and expenses, as well as estimates of expenses related to depreciation, depletion and
amortization. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

2.

Acquisitions

On December 21, 2007, we entered in to a Purchase and Sale Agreement with the Apache Corporation for the purchase of certain oil and natural gas
properties located in ten separate fields in the Permian Basin of West Texas and Southeastern New Mexico. The purchase price for said assets was $78.3
million with an effective date of October 1, 2007. We completed this acquisition on January 31, 2008 for an adjusted purchase price of $73.4 million, subject
to customary post closing adjustments. The post closing adjustments reduced the final purchase price to $71.5 million and included a purchase price
adjustment of $6.8 million for the cash flow from the acquired properties for the period between the effective date, October 1, 2007, and the final settlement
date. The purchase price included a payment of $7.8 million paid by us to the seller in December 2007 and this amount is reported in non-current deposits in
our consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2007. In this acquisition, based on internal reserve forecasts, we acquired approximately 4.4 million barrels of
oil equivalent, 83% of which are oil and 90% are proved developed producing. The current net production attributable to this purchase is estimated to be
approximately 800 barrels of oil equivalent per day and the reserves-to-production ratio is approximately 15 years. As part of this acquisition, we assumed
fixed-price oil swaps covering approximately 90% of the estimated proved developed producing oil reserves through 2011 at a weighted average price of
$87.29. The fair value of these fixed-price oil swaps was a liability of $1,128,114 at January 31, 2008. This acquisition was funded with borrowings under
our existing Credit Facility.
On July 28, 2008, we acquired certain natural gas and oil properties in South Texas. See Note 10. Subsequent Event for further discussion.

3.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We established an approximate $1 million provision for a loss on the entire amount due from a customer which filed for protection under Chapter 11
of the Bankruptcy Code in May 2007. The account receivable was due from oil sales through December 2006 at which time we ceased selling oil to the
customer. As the amount of any potential recovery is uncertain, we elected to reserve the entire balance and it is reflected as bad debt expense on our
consolidated statement of operations for the six months ended June 30, 2007. We began selling our oil production to a new customer beginning in March 2007.

4.

Credit Facilities and Long-Term Debt

Our credit facility and long-term debt consisted of the following:
Amount Outstanding
June 30,
December 31,
Description
$400 million Senior Secured Revolver

Interest Rate
Variable

Maturity Date
March 31, 2011
$

Total
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2007

2008

102,500,000
102,500,000

37,400,000

$

37,400,000

VANGUARD NATURAL RESOURCES, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)

$400 Million Senior Secured Revolver
In January 2007, the Company entered into a four-year $200 million revolving credit facility (“Credit Facility”) with two banks. All of our
Predecessor’s outstanding debt was repaid with borrowings under this Credit Facility, including an early prepayment penalty of $2.5 million. The available
credit line (“Borrowing Base”) is subject to adjustment from time to time but not less than on a semi-annual basis based on the projected discounted present
value (as determined by independent petroleum engineers) of estimated future net cash flows from certain proved natural gas and oil reserves of the Company.
The initial Borrowing Base was set at $115.5 million and is secured by a first lien security interest in all of the Company’s natural gas and oil properties.
However, the borrowing base was subject to $1 million reductions per month starting on July 1, 2007 through November 1, 2007, which resulted in a
borrowing base of $110.5 million as reaffirmed in November 2007 pursuant to the semi-annual borrowing base redetermination . We applied $80.0 million of
the net proceeds from our IPO in October 2007 to reduce our indebtedness under the Credit Facility. In February 2008, our Credit Facility was amended and
restated to extend the maturity from January 3, 2011 to March 31, 2011, increase the facility amount from $200.0 million to $400.0 million, increase our
borrowing base from $110.5 million to $150.0 million and add two additional financial institutions as lenders. Additional borrowings were made pursuant to
the acquisition of natural gas and oil properties in the Permian Basin in January 2008 and indebtedness under the Credit Facility totaled $102.5 million at
June 30, 2008.
Interest rates under the Credit Facility are based on Euro-Dollars (LIBOR) or ABR (Prime) indications, plus a margin. At June 30, 2008, the
applicable margin and other fees increase as the utilization of the borrowing base increases as follows:

Borrowing Base Utilization Grid
Borrowing Base Utilization Percentage
Eurodollar Loans
ABR Loans
Commitment Fee Rate
Letter of Credit Fee

<25%
0.000%

>25%<50 %
1.250%
0.250%

0.250%

0.300%

1.000%

1.250%

1.000%

>50%<75 %
1.500%
0.500%
0.375%
1.500%

>75%
1.750%
0.750%
0.375%
1.750%

The Credit Agreement contains a number of customary covenants that require the Company to maintain certain financial ratios, limit the Company’s
ability to incur additional debt, sell assets, create liens, or make certain distributions. At June 30, 2008, we were in compliance with our debt covenants.
The Credit Agreement required the Company to enter into a commodity price hedge position establishing certain minimum fixed prices for anticipated
future production equal to approximately 84% of the projected production from proved developed producing reserves from the second half of 2007 through
2011. Also, the Credit Agreement required that certain production put option contracts for the years 2007, 2008 and 2009 be put in place to create a price floor
for anticipated production from new wells drilled. See Note 5. Price Risk Management Activities for further discussion.

5.

Price Risk Management Activities

From time to time, the Company enters into derivative contracts with counterparties that are major, creditworthy financial institutions and lenders
under our Credit Facility to hedge price risk associated with a portion of our natural gas and oil production. These derivatives are not held for trading
purposes. Under fixed-priced commodity swap agreements, the Company receives a fixed price on a notional quantity in exchange for paying a variable price
based on a market index, such as the Columbia Gas Appalachian Index (‘TECO Index”) for natural gas production and the West Texas Intermediate Light
Sweet for oil production. Under put option agreements, we pay the counterparty the fair value at the purchase date. At settlement date we receive the excess, if
any, of the fixed floor over floating rate. Under collar contracts, we pay the counterparty if the market price is above the ceiling and the counterparty pays us if
the market price is below the floor on a notional quantity. The collars and put options for natural gas are settled based on the NYMEX price for natural gas at
Henry Hub.
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In addition, we enter into interest rate swap agreements, which require payment to or from the counterparty based upon the differential between two
rates for a predetermined contractual amount. This hedging activity converts a floating interest rate to a fixed interest rate and is intended to manage our
exposure to interest rate fluctuations.

All of our derivative contracts entered into in 2008 and 2007, were specifically designated as hedges under SFAS No. 133 Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities and therefore qualify for hedge accounting treatment. These derivative contracts are recorded at fair value on the

consolidated balance sheet as short-term and long-term assets or liabilities based upon their anticipated settlement date. The change in fair value of these
derivative contracts is recorded in Other Comprehensive Income.

On January 3, 2007, our Predecessor’s natural gas price swaps were terminated, which resulted in the Company incurring swap termination fees of
$2.8 million and an additional loss on derivative contracts of approximately $0.8 million included in our consolidated statement of operations for the six
months ended June 30, 2007. New natural gas derivative contracts were put in place in conjunction with entering into the Credit Facility as described in Note
4. Credit Facility and Long-Term Debt. The Company paid $6.5 million for the put option contracts and payments for the put option contracts and the
swap termination fee were funded with borrowings under the Credit Facility. At our election, also in January 2007, we entered into a NYMEX natural gas
collar contract. In May 2007, we reset our 2007, 2008 and 2009 natural gas swaps at higher prices and incurred a $7.3 million deferred swap payment
obligation with the derivative counterparty which accrued interest daily at 7.36% and was payable at the earlier of five days after the closing of an equity
issuance or November 1, 2007. The deferred swap obligation was paid in October 2007 using proceeds from our IPO.
In February 2008, as part of the Permian Basin acquisition, we assumed fixed-price oil swaps covering approximately 90% of the estimated proved
developed producing oil reserves through 2011 at a weighted average price of $87.29. In February and March 2008, we entered into interest rate swaps which
effectively fix the LIBOR rate at 2.66% to 3.00% on $40.0 million of borrowings. Also, in February 2008, we sold calls (or set a ceiling price) which effectively
collared 2,000,000 MMBtu of gas production in 2008 through 2009 which was previously only subject to a put or price floor, we reset the price on 2,387,640
MMBtu of natural gas swaps settling in 2010 from $7.53 to $8.76 per MMBtu and we entered into a 2012 fixed-price oil swap at $80.00 for 87% of our
estimated proved developed production. In April 2008, we reset the price on 800,000 MMBtu of natural gas puts settling from May 1, 2008 to December 31,
2008 from $7.50 to $9.00 per MMBtu at a cost to the Company of $0.3 million which was funded with cash on hand.

At June 30, 2008, the Company had open derivative contracts covering our anticipated future production as follows:

Swap Agreements
Gas

Oil

Weighted

Contract Period
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012

MMBtu
1,452,439
2,657,046
2,387,640
2,196,012
—

$
$
$
$
$

Average
TECO Fixed
9.00
8.85
8.76
7.15
—

WTI
Bbls
97,500
181,500
164,250
151,250
144,000

Price

$
$
$
$
$

90.30

87.23
85.65
85.50
80.00

Put Option Contracts
Purchased NYMEX
Contract Period
2008
2009

Volume in MMBtu
561,311
840,139
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$
$

7.50
7.50
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Collars

Gas
MMBtu
Production Period:
July – September 2008
October – December 2008
January 2009 – December 2009
January 2010 – December 2010

300,000
300,000

1,000,000
730,000

Ceiling

Floor

$
$
$
$

9.00
9.00

7.50
8.00

$
$
$
$

9.00
9.25
9.00
9.30

Interest Rate Swaps
Fixed
Libor
Rates

Principal
Balance
Period:

$
$
$

July 1, 2008 to December 10, 2010
July 1, 2008 to January 31, 2011
July 1, 2008 to March 31, 2011

6.

3.88%

20,000,000
30,000,000

3.00%

10,000,000

2.66%

Fair Value Disclosures

As discussed in Note 1. Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies , we prospectively adopted SFAS 157 for financial assets and financial
liabilities. SFAS 157 defines fair value as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or
most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. SFAS 157 also expands
disclosure about fair value measurements and establishes a fair value hierarchy which requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and
minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. The standard describes three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value:
Level 1

Quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets. Level 1assets include short-term investments (such as Money Market Funds and
Treasury Bills).

Level 2

Quoted market prices for similar instruments in active markets; quoted priced for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not
active; and model-derived valuations in which all significant inputs and significant value drivers are observable in active markets.

Level 3

Valuations derived from valuation techniques in which one or more significant inputs or significant value drivers are unobservable. Level 3
assets and liabilities generally include financial instruments whose value is determined using pricing models, discounted cash flow
methodologies, or similar techniques, as well as instruments for which the determination of fair value requires significant management
judgment or estimation or for which there is a lack of transparency as to the inputs used.

Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis are summarized below:

June 30, 2008

Fair Value Measurements Using

Assets/Liabilities

Level 2

at Fair value

Level 1

Level 3

Assets:
Derivative instruments

$

—

$

702,079

$

—

$

$

—

$

(74,691,663) $

—

$

702,079

Liabilities:
Derivative instruments
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7.

Related Party Transactions

Pursuant to the Restructuring, we rely on Vinland to execute our drilling program, operate our wells and gather our natural gas in Appalachia. We
reimburse Vinland $60 per well per month (in addition to normal third party operating costs) for operating our current natural gas and oil properties in
Appalachia under a Management Services Agreement (“MSA”) which costs are reflected in our lease operating expenses. Also, Vinland receives a $0.25 per
Mcf transportation fee on existing wells drilled at December 31, 2006 and $0.55 per Mcf transportation fee on any new wells drilled after December 31, 2006
within the area of mutual interest or “AMI”. This transportation fee only encompasses transporting the natural gas to third party pipelines at which point
additional transportation fees to natural gas markets would apply. These transportation fees are outlined under a Gathering and Compression Agreement
(“GCA”) with Vinland and are reflected in our lease operating expenses. Costs incurred under the MSA were $0.2 million for each of the three months ended
June 30, 2008 and 2007 and $0.3 million for each of the six months ended June 30, 2008 and 2007. Costs incurred under the GCA were $0.2 million and $0.4
million for the three months ended June 30, 2008 and 2007 and $0.5 million and $0.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2008 and 2007. A payable of
$4.1 million and $3.8 million is reflected on our June 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007 consolidated balance sheet in connection with these agreements and
direct expenses incurred by Vinland related to the drilling of new wells and operations of all of our existing wells in Appalachia.

8.

Common Units and Net Income per Unit

Basic earnings per unit is computed in accordance with SFAS No. 128, “Earnings Per Share” (“SFAS 128”) by dividing net income (loss)
attributable to unitholders by the weighted average number of units outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per unit is computed by adjusting the
average number of units outstanding for the dilutive effect, if any, of unit equivalents. The Company uses the treasury stock method to determine the dilutive
effect. At June 30, 2008, the Company had two classes of units outstanding: (i) units representing limited liability company interests (“common units”) listed
on NYSE Arca under the symbol VNR and (ii) Class B units, issued to management and an employee as discussed in Note 10.Unit-Based Compensation .
The Class B units participate in distributions and no forfeiture is expected; therefore, all Class B units were considered in the computation of basic earnings
per unit.
In accordance with SFAS 128, dual presentation of basic and diluted earnings per unit has been presented in the consolidated statements of operations
for the three months and six months ended June 30, 2008 and 2007 for each class of units issued and outstanding at that date: common units and Class B
units. Net income (loss) per unit is allocated to the common units and the Class B units on an equal basis.

9. Unit-Based Compensation
In April 2007, the sole member reserved 460,000 restricted Class B units in VNR for issuance to employees. Certain members of management were
granted 365,000 restricted Class B units in VNR in April 2007, which vest two years from the date of grant. In addition, another 55,000 restricted VNR
Class B units were issued in August 2007 to two other employees that were hired in April and May of 2007, which will vest after three years. The remaining
40,000 restricted Class B units are available to be awarded to new employees or members of our board of directors as they are retained. In October 2007 and
February 2008, four board members were granted 5,000 common units each which vest after one year. Additionally, in October 2007, two officers were
granted options to purchase an aggregate of 175,000 units under our long-term incentive plan with an exercise price equal to the initial public offering price.

Furthermore, on March 27, 2008, phantom units were granted to two officers in amounts equal to 1.0% of our units outstanding at January 1, 2008
and the amount paid will equal the appreciation in value of the units, if any, from the date of the grant until the determination date (December 31, 2008), plus
cash distributions paid on the units, less an 8% hurdle rate. These common units, Class B units, options and phantom units were granted as partial
consideration for services to be performed under employment contracts and thus will be subject to accounting for these grants under SFAS No. 123(R), ShareBased Payment.
13

VANGUARD NATURAL RESOURCES, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)

The fair value of restricted units issued is determined based on the fair market value of common units on the date of the grant. This value is
amortized over the vesting period as referenced above. A summary of the status of the non-vested units as of June 30, 2008 is presented below:

Number of
Non-vested Units

Weighted Average

Grant Date Fair Value

Non-vested units at December 31, 2007
Granted

425,000
15,000

$

Non-vested units at June 30, 2008

440,000

$

18.14
16.79
18.10

At June 30, 2008, there was approximately $4.1 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested restricted units. The cost is expected
to be recognized over an average period of approximately 1.3 years. Our consolidated statement of operations reflects non-cash compensation of $1.0 million
and $0.6 million in the selling, general and administrative line item for the three months ended June 30, 2008 and 2007 and $1.9 million and $0.6 million for
the six months ended June 30, 2008 and 2007.

10. Subsequent Event
On July 18, 2008, we entered in to a Purchase and Sale Agreement with Segundo Navarro Drilling, Ltd., a wholly owned subsidiary of the Lewis
Energy Group, for the acquisition of certain natural gas and oil properties located in the Dos Hermanos Field in Webb County, Texas. The purchase price for
said assets was $53.4 million with an effective date of June 1, 2008. We completed this acquisition on July 28, 2008 for the purchase price, subject to
customary post-closing adjustments to be determined. This acquisition was funded with borrowings under our Credit Facility and through the issuance of
1,350,873 common units of the Company. The effects of this acquisition are not reflected in the cash flows and other financial and operating information
described herein due to the acquisition closing on July 28, 2008. Upon closing this transaction, we assumed natural gas swaps and collars based on Houston
Ship Channel pricing for approximately 85% of the estimated gas production from existing producing wells for the period beginning July 2008 through
December 2011.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and related notes presented in Item 1 of this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and information disclosed in our 2007 Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Forward-Looking Statements

This report contains “forward-looking statements” intended to qualify for the safe harbors from liability established by the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Statements included in this quarterly report that are not historical facts (including any statements concerning plans and
objectives of management for future operations or economic performance, or assumptions or forecasts related thereto), including, without limitation, the
information set forth in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, are forward-looking statements. These
statements can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology including “may,” “believe,” “expect,” “intend,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “continue,” or
other similar words. These statements discuss future expectations, contain projections of results of operations or of financial condition, or state other “forwardlooking” information. We and our representatives may from time to time make other oral or written statements that are also forward-looking statements.
Such forward-looking statements are subject to various risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those
anticipated as of the date of this report. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in these forward-looking statements are based on reasonable
assumptions, no assurance can be given that these expectations will prove to be correct. Important factors that could cause our actual results to differ
materially from the expectations reflected in these forward-looking statements include, among other things, those set forth in the Risk Factor section of the 2007
Annual Report on Form 10-K, and those set forth from time to time in our filings with the SEC, which are available on our website at www.vnrllc.com and
through the SEC’s Electronic Data Gathering and Retrieval System (“EDGAR”) at http://www.sec.gov.
All forward-looking statements included in this report are based on information available to us on the date of this report. We undertake no obligation
to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. All subsequent written and oral
forward-looking statements attributable to us or persons acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements contained

throughout this report.

Overview
We are a publicly-traded limited liability company focused on the acquisition, development and exploitation of mature, long-lived natural gas and oil
properties in the United States. Our primary business objective is to generate stable cash flows allowing us to make quarterly cash distributions to our
unitholders and over time to increase our quarterly cash distributions through the acquisition of new natural gas and oil properties. Our properties are located
in the southern portion of the Appalachian Basin, primarily in southeast Kentucky and northeast Tennessee, the Permian Basin, primarily in West Texas and
Southeastern New Mexico and in South Texas, with the closing of our recent acquisition.
We owned working interests in 1,383 gross (917 net) productive wells at June 30, 2008 and our average net production for the twelve months ended
December 31, 2007 and for the three months and six months ended June 30, 2008 was 11,610 Mcfe per day, 15,888 Mcfe per day and 15,505 Mcfe per day,
respectively. We also have a 40% working interest in the known producing horizons in approximately 104,000 gross undeveloped acres surrounding or adjacent
to our existing wells located in southeast Kentucky and northeast Tennessee. Vinland Energy Operations, LLC (“Vinland”) acts as the operator of our existing
wells in Appalachia and all of the wells that we will drill in this area.

Initial Public Offering
In October 2007, we completed our initial public offering (“IPO”) of 5.25 million units representing limited liability interests in VNR at $19.00 per
unit for net proceeds of $92.8 million after deducting underwriting discounts and fees of $7.0 million. The proceeds were used to reduce indebtedness under
our reserve-based credit facility by $80.0 million and the balance was used for the payment of accrued distributions to pre-IPO unitholders and the payment of
a deferred swap obligation.

Permian Basin Acquisition
On December 21, 2007, we entered in to a Purchase and Sale Agreement with the Apache Corporation for the purchase of certain oil and natural gas
properties located in ten separate fields in the Permian Basin of West Texas and Southeastern New Mexico. The purchase price for said assets was $78.3
million with an effective date of October 1, 2007. We completed this acquisition on January 31, 2008 for an adjusted purchase price of $73.4 million, subject
to customary post closing adjustments. The post closing adjustments reduced the final purchase price to $71.5 million and included a purchase price
adjustment of $6.8 million for the cash flow from the acquired properties for the period between the effective date, October 1, 2007, and the final settlement
date. This acquisition was funded with borrowings under our reserve-based credit facility. Through this acquisition, we acquired working interests in 390
gross wells (67 net wells), 49 of which we operate. With respect to operations, we have established two district offices, one in Lovington, New Mexico and the
other in Christoval, Texas to manage these assets. Our operating focus will be on maximizing existing production and looking for complementary acquisitions
that we can add to this operating platform. With this acquisition, based on internal reserve estimates, we acquired 4.4 million barrels of oil equivalent, 83% of
which is oil and 90% of which is proved developed producing. The current net production attributable to this purchase is approximately 800 barrels of oil
equivalent per day and the reserves-to-production ratio is approximately 15 years. With the closing of this acquisition, our daily production and total reserves
increased approximately 40%.
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South Texas Acquisition
On July 18, 2008, we entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement with Segundo Navarro Drilling, Ltd., a wholly owned subsidiary of the Lewis
Energy Group, for the acquisition of certain natural gas and oil properties located in the Dos Hermanos Field in Webb County, Texas. The purchase price for
said assets was $53.4 million with an effective date of June 1, 2008. We completed this acquisition on July 28, 2008 for the purchase price, subject to
customary post-closing adjustments to be determined. This acquisition was funded with borrowings under our reserve-based credit facility and through the
issuance of 1,350,873 common units of the Company. In this purchase, we acquired an average of a 98% working interest in 91 producing wells and an
average 47.5% working interest in approximately 4,705 gross acres with 41 identified proved undeveloped locations. An affiliate of Lewis Energy Group will
operate all the properties and is contractually obligated to drill six wells in 2008 and seven wells in 2009 through 2011. Based on internal reserve estimates, we
acquired 20 Bcfe of proved reserves, 98% of which is natural gas and 65% of which is proved developed producing. The current net production attributable
to this purchase is approximately 3,000 Mcf per day and the reserves-to-production ratio is approximately 18 years. With the closing of this acquisition, our
daily production and reserves increased approximately 19% and 20%, respectively. The effects of this acquisition are not reflected in the cash flows and other
financial and operating information described herein due to the acquisition closing on July 28, 2008. Upon closing this transaction, we assumed natural gas
swaps and collars based on Houston Ship Channel pricing for approximately 85% of the estimated gas production from existing producing wells for the
period beginning July 2008 through December 2011.

Our Relationship with Vinland
On April 18, 2007 but effective as of January 5, 2007, we entered into various agreements with Vinland, under which we rely on Vinland to operate
our existing producing wells in Appalachia and coordinate our development drilling program in this area. We expect to benefit from the substantial development
and operational expertise of Vinland management in the Appalachian Basin. Under a management services agreement, Vinland advises and consults with us
regarding all aspects of our production and development operations in Appalachia and provides us with administrative support services as necessary for the
operation of our business. In addition, Vinland may, but does not have any obligation to, provide us with acquisition services under the management services
agreement. While Vinland is not obligated to provide us with acquisition services, we expect that due to significant common ownership Vinland has an
incentive to grow our business by helping us to identify, evaluate and complete acquisitions that will be accretive to our distributable cash. In addition, under a
gathering and compression agreement that we entered into with Vinland Energy Gathering, LLC (“VEG”), VEG gathers, compresses, delivers and provides the
services necessary for us to market our natural gas production in the area of mutual interest, or “AMI”. VEG delivers our natural gas production to certain
designated interconnects with third-party transporters. Since the various agreements were executed on April 18, 2007 but were effective as of January 5, 2007,
Vinland reimbursed us for the drilling costs and expenses that we incurred on their behalf associated with their interest in the wells drilled between January 5,
2007 and April 18, 2007. In addition, Vinland reimbursed us for selling, general and administrative expenses that we incurred on their behalf between
January 5, 2007 and April 18, 2007. We reimbursed Vinland for certain transaction costs and expenses relating to entering into these agreements.

Restructuring Plan
Prior to the separation, our Predecessor owned all of the assets that are currently owned by us and Vinland in Appalachia. As part of the separation of
our operating company and Vinland, effective January 5, 2007, we conveyed to Vinland 60% of our Predecessor’s working interest in the known producing
horizons in approximately 95,000 gross undeveloped acres in the AMI, 100% of our Predecessor’s interest in an additional 125,000 undeveloped acres and
certain coalbed methane rights located in the Appalachian Basin, the rights to any natural gas and oil located on our acreage at depths above and 100 feet below
our known producing horizons, all of our gathering and compression assets and all employees other than our President and Chief Executive Officer and our
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. We retained all of our Predecessor’s proved producing wells and associated reserves. We also retained
40% of our Predecessor’s working interest in the known producing horizons in approximately 95,000 gross undeveloped acres in the AMI and a contract right
to receive approximately 99% of the net proceeds, after deducting royalties paid to other parties, severance taxes, third-party transportation costs, costs
incurred in the operation of wells and overhead costs, from the sale of production from certain producing natural gas and oil wells, which accounted for
approximately 4.5% of our estimated proved reserves as of December 31, 2007. In addition, we changed the name of our operating company from Nami
Holding Company, LLC to Vanguard Natural Gas, LLC. Collectively, we refer to these events as the “Restructuring.”
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Private Offering
In April 2007, we completed a private equity offering pursuant to which we issued 2,290,000 units to certain private investors, which we collectively
refer to as the Private Investors, for $41.2 million. We used the net proceeds of this private equity offering to make a distribution to Majeed S. Nami, VNR’s
largest unitholder, who used a portion of these funds to capitalize Vinland and also paid us $3.9 million to reduce outstanding accounts receivable from
Vinland. We then used the $3.9 million to repay borrowings and interest under our reserve-based credit facility, and for general limited liability company
purposes. Under the terms of the private offering, all outstanding units accrued distributions at $1.75 annually from the closing of the private offering to
September 30, 2007 and then distributions payable to the Private Investors only increased to $2.40 until the completion of the initial public offering at which
time all accrued distributions totaling $5.6 million were paid.

Reserve-Based Credit Facility
On January 3, 2007, our operating company entered into a reserve-based credit facility which is available for our general limited liability company
purposes, including, without limitation, capital expenditures and acquisitions. Our obligations under the reserve-based credit facility are secured by
substantially all of our assets. Our initial borrowing base under the reserve-based credit facility was set at $115.5 million. However, the borrowing base was
subject to $1.0 million reductions per month starting on July 1, 2007 through November 1, 2007, which resulted in a borrowing base of $110.5 million as
reaffirmed in November 2007 pursuant to a semi-annual borrowing base redetermination. We applied $80.0 million of the net proceeds from our IPO in
October 2007 to reduce our indebtedness under the reserve-based credit facility. In February 2008, our reserve-based credit facility was amended and restated to
extend the maturity from January 3, 2011 to March 31, 2011, increase the facility amount from $200.0 million to $400.0 million, increase our borrowing base
from $110.5 million to $150.0 million and add two additional financial institutions as lenders. Additional borrowings were made pursuant to the acquisition
of natural gas and oil properties in the Permian Basin in January 2008 and indebtedness under the reserve-based credit facility totaled $102.5 million at June
30, 2008. At June 30, 2008, the applicable margin and other fees increase as the utilization of the borrowing base increases as follows:
Borrowing Base Utilization Grid
Borrowing Base Utilization Percentage
Eurodollar Loans
ABR Loans
Commitment Fee Rate
Letter of Credit Fee

<25%
0.000%

>25%<50 %
1.250%
0.250%

0.250%

0.300%

1.000%

1.250%

1.000%

>50%<75 %
1.500%
0.500%
0.375%
1.500%

>75%
1.750%
0.750%
0.375%
1.750%

In July 2008, an additional $31.0 million was borrowed under the reserve-based credit facility to fund a portion of the cash consideration paid in the
South Texas acquisition. As a result, as of August 12, 2008, borrowings under the reserve-based credit facility increased to $131.5 million and the borrowing
base is in the process of being redetermined to include the natural gas and oil properties from the South Texas acquisition.

Outlook

Our revenue, cash flow from operations and future growth depend substantially on factors beyond our control, such as economic, political and
regulatory developments, competition from other sources of energy, and access to capital. Natural gas and oil prices historically have been volatile and may
fluctuate widely in the future. Sustained periods of low prices for natural gas or oil could materially and adversely affect our financial position, our results of
operations, the quantities of natural gas and oil reserves that we can economically produce and our access to capital. As required by our reserve-based credit
facility, we have mitigated this volatility for the years 2007 through 2011 by implementing a hedging program on our proved producing and total anticipated
production during this time frame.
We face the challenge of natural gas and oil production declines. As a given well’s initial reservoir pressures are depleted, natural gas and oil
production decreases, thus reducing our total reserves. We attempt to overcome this natural decline both by drilling on our properties and acquiring additional
reserves. We will maintain our focus on controlling costs to add reserves through drilling and acquisitions, as well as controlling the corresponding costs
necessary to produce such reserves. Our ability to add reserves through drilling is dependent on our capital resources and can be limited by many factors,
including the ability to timely obtain drilling permits and regulatory approvals. Any delays in drilling, completion or connection to gathering lines of our new
wells will negatively impact the rate of our production, which may have an adverse effect on our revenues and as a result, cash available for distribution. In
accordance with our business plan, we intend to invest the capital necessary to maintain our production at existing levels over the long-term.
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Results of Operations
The following table sets forth selected financial and operating data for the periods ended June 30:
Three Months Ended
June 30,

Revenues:
Natural gas and oil sales
Realized losses on derivative contracts
Total revenues
Costs and expenses:

$

Lease operating expenses
Depreciation, depletion and amortization
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Bad debt expense
Taxes other than income taxes

$

Total costs and expenses

$

Other Income and (Expense):
Interest expense, net
Loss on extinguishment of debt

$
$

(a)

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2008(a)

2008

2007

20,849,911 $
(5,749,947)
15,099,964 $

10,106,737 $
(918,044)

2,300,076

9,188,693

$

1,314,041
2,291,426
781,198
—

$

4,766,775

3,330,024

1,636,675
—
1,428,965
8,695,740

$

34,850,008 $
(6,900,419)
27,949,589 $

4,315,753
6,154,002
3,282,466
—

$

2,395,078

380,110

(1,240,056) $
— $

2007

$

(2,182,012) $
— $

16,147,299

19,068,353
(1,665,852)
17,402,501

2,460,420
4,320,289
1,215,489
1,007,458

890,992
$

(2,362,102) $
— $

9,894,648

(4,392,168)
(2,501,528)

The Permian acquisition closed on January 31, 2008 and as such only five months of operations are included in the six month period ended
June 30, 2008.

Three Months Ended June 30, 2008 Compared to Three Months Ended June 30, 2007

Revenues

Natural gas and oil sales increased $10.7 million to $20.8 million during the three months ended June 30, 2008 as compared to the same period in
2007. The key revenue measurements were as follows:
Percentage
Increase
(Decrease)

Three Months Ended
June 30,
2008
2007
Net Natural Gas Production:
Appalachian gas (MMcf)
Permian gas (MMcf)

Total natural gas production (MMcf)
Average Appalachian daily gas production (Mcf/day)
Average Permian daily gas production (Mcf/day)

903

1,032

109
1,012
9,922
1,202

—
1,032
11,340
—

(13)%

N/A
(2)%
(13)%

N/A

Average Natural Gas Sales Price per Mcf:

Net realized gas price, including hedges
Net realized gas price, excluding hedges

$
$

Net Oil Production:
Appalachian oil (Bbls)
Permian oil (Bbls)

10.35(a) $
13.14
$

10,430

61,817
72,247
115
679

Total oil (Bbls)
Average Appalachian daily oil production (Bbls/day)
Average Permian daily oil production (Bbls/day)

9.12(a)
9.30

13%
41%

8,513
—
8,513
94
—

22%
N/A
749%
22%
N/A

60.46
60.46

34%
73%

Average Oil Sales Price per Bbls:

Net realized oil price, including hedges
Net realized oil price, excluding hedges
(a)

$
$

Excludes amortization of premiums paid and non-cash settlement on derivative contracts.

81.01
104.44

$
$
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The increase in natural gas and oil sales was due primarily to the impact of the Permian Basin acquisition completed on January 31, 2008 and
increases in commodity prices. Production from the Permian Basin contributed $8.0 million of natural gas and oil sales for the three month period ended June
30, 2008. In Appalachia, a decline in natural gas production was partially offset by an increase in oil production for a net production decline of 11% on an
Mcfe basis. However, the negative impact of the production decline was offset by a 41% increase in the average realized natural gas sales price received
(excluding hedges) and a 73% increase in the average realized oil price (excluding hedges).

Hedging Activities
During the three months ended June 30, 2008, we had hedges in place for approximately 95% of our total production, which resulted in reported
revenues that were $5.7 million lower than we would have achieved at unhedged prices. During the three months ended June 30, 2007, we hedged
approximately 96% of our total production, which resulted in an additional loss on derivative contracts of approximately $0.9 million.

Costs and Expenses
Production costs consist of the lease operating expenses and taxes other than income taxes (severance and ad valorem taxes). Lease operating expenses
include third-party transportation costs, gathering and compression fees, field personnel and other customary charges. Lease operating expenses in Appalachia
also include a $60 per month per well administrative charge pursuant to a management services agreement with Vinland, a $0.25 per Mcf and $0.55 per Mcf
gathering and compression charge for production from wells drilled pre and post January 1, 2007, respectively, paid to Vinland pursuant to a gathering and
compression agreement with Vinland. Lease operating expenses increased by $1.0 million to $2.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2008 as
compared to the three months ended June 30, 2007 of which $0.9 million related to the Permian Basin acquisition. Severance taxes are a function of volumes
and revenues generated from production. Ad valorem taxes vary by state/county and are based on the value of our reserves. Taxes other than income taxes
increased by $1.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2008 as compared to the same period in 2007 of which $0.6 million related to the Permian Basin
acquisition.
Depreciation, depletion and amortization increased to approximately $3.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2008 from approximately $2.3
million for the three months ended June 30, 2007 due primarily to the additional depletion recorded on oil and gas properties acquired in the Permian Basin
acquisition.

Selling, general and administrative expenses include the costs of our administrative employees and executive officers, related benefits, office leases,
professional fees and other costs not directly associated with field operations. These expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2008 increased $0.8 million
as compared to the three months ended June 30, 2007. For the three months ended June 30, 2008 and 2007 these expenses included a $1.0 million and $0.6
million, respectively, non-cash compensation charge related to the grant of restricted Class B units to management and an employee, the grant of unit options to
management, the grant of common units to board members and the grant of phantom units to management during 2007 and 2008. Excluding the impact of the
non-cash compensation, selling, general and administrative expenses were $0.6 million for the three months ended June 30, 2008 representing a $0.4 million
increase from the same period in 2007 principally due to costs associated with additional employees.
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Interest expense declined to $1.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2008 compared to $2.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2007
primarily due to a reduction in the weighted average outstanding borrowings and lower interest rates.

Six Months Ended June 30, 2008 Compared to Six Months Ended June 30, 2007

Revenues

Natural gas and oil sales increased $15.7 million to $34.8 million during the six months ended June 30, 2008 as compared to the same period in
2007. The key revenue measurements were as follows:
Percentage
Increase
(Decrease)

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2008
2007
Net Natural Gas Production:
Appalachian gas (MMcf)

1,770

2,100

151(a)
1,921
9,724
1,000(a)

Permian gas (MMcf)

Total natural gas production (MMcf)
Average Appalachian daily gas production (Mcf/day)
Average Permian daily gas production (Mcf/day)

—
2,100
11,602
—

(16)%
N/A
(9)%
(16)%
N/A

Average Natural Gas Sales Price per Mcf:

$
$

Net realized gas price, including hedges
Net realized gas price, excluding hedges
Net Oil Production:
Appalachian oil (Bbls)

10.41(b) $

11.62

$

21,421
102,539(a)
123,960
118
679(a)

Permian oil (Bbls)

Total oil (Bbls)
Average Appalachian daily oil production (Bbls/day)
Average Permian daily oil production (Bbls/day)

8.39(b)
8.84

8,513
—
8,513

24%
31%

—

151%
N/A
1,356%
151%
N/A

60.46
60.46

67%

47

Average Oil Sales Price per Bbls:

$
$

Net realized oil price, including hedges
Net realized oil price, excluding hedges

84.61
101.06

$
$

40%

(a) The Permian acquisition closed on January 31, 2008 and as such only five months of operations are included in the six month period ended June 30,
2008.

(b) Excludes amortization of premiums paid and non-cash settlement on derivative contracts.

The increase in natural gas and oil sales was due primarily to the impact of the Permian Basin acquisition completed on January 31, 2008 and an
increase in commodity prices. Five months of production from the Permian Basin contributed $12.3 million of natural gas and oil sales for the six month
period ended June 30, 2008. In Appalachia, a decline in natural gas production was partially offset by an increase in oil production for a net production decline
of 12% on an Mcfe basis. However, the negative impact of the production decline was offset by a 31% increase in the average realized natural gas sales price
received (excluding hedges) and a 67% increase in the average realized oil price (excluding hedges).
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Hedging Activities
During the six months ended June 30, 2008, we had hedges in place for approximately 96% of our total production, which resulted in reported
revenues that were $6.9 million lower than we would have achieved at unhedged prices. During the six months ended June 30, 2007, we hedged approximately
77% of our total production, which resulted in revenues that were $1.7 million lower than we would have achieved at unhedged prices. In January 2007, we
also terminated existing natural gas swaps at a cost of approximately $2.8 million which resulted in an additional loss on derivative contracts of approximately
$0.8 million.

Costs and Expenses
Production costs consist of the lease operating expenses and taxes other than income taxes (severance and ad valorem taxes). Lease operating expenses
include third-party transportation costs, gathering and compression fees, field personnel and other customary charges. Lease operating expenses in Appalachia
also include a $60 per month per well administrative charge pursuant to a management services agreement with Vinland, a $0.25 per Mcf and $0.55 per Mcf
gathering and compression charge for production from wells drilled pre and post January 1, 2007, respectively, paid to Vinland pursuant to a gathering and
compression agreement with Vinland. Lease operating expenses increased by $1.8 million to $4.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2008 as compared
to the six months ended June 30, 2007 of which $1.5 million related to the Permian Basin acquisition. Severance taxes are a function of volumes and revenues
generated from production. Ad valorem taxes vary by state/county and are based on the value of our reserves. Taxes other than income taxes increased by $1.5
million for the six months ended June 30, 2008 as compared to the same period in 2007 of which $0.9 million related to the Permian Basin acquisition.
Depreciation, depletion and amortization increased to approximately $6.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2008 from approximately $4.3
million for the six months ended June 30, 2007 due primarily to the additional depletion recorded on the oil and gas properties acquired in the Permian Basin
acquisition.

Selling, general and administrative expenses include the costs of our administrative employees and executive officers, related benefits, office leases,
professional fees and other costs not directly associated with field operations. These expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2008 increased $2.1 million as
compared to the six months ended June 30, 2007. For the six months ended June 30, 2008 and 2007 these expenses included a $1.9 million and $0.6 million
non-cash compensation charge related to the grant of restricted Class B units to management and an employee, the grant of unit options to management, the
grant of common units to board members and the grant of phantom units to management during 2007 and 2008. Excluding the impact of the non-cash
compensation, selling, general and administrative expenses were $1.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2008 representing a $0.8 million increase from
the same period in 2007 principally due to costs associated with additional employees.
Interest expense declined to $2.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2008 compared to $4.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2007
primarily due to a reduction in the weighted average outstanding borrowings and lower interest rates. All of our Predecessor’s outstanding debt was repaid with
borrowings under our reserve-based credit facility in January 2007, including an early prepayment penalty of $2.5 million.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to select and apply accounting policies that best provide the
framework to report its results of operations and financial position. The selection and application of those policies requires management to make difficult
subjective or complex judgments concerning reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period and the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements. As a result, there exists the likelihood that materially different amounts would be reported under different
conditions or using different assumptions.

As of June 30, 2008, the Company’s critical accounting policies are consistent with those discussed in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10K/A for the year ended December 31, 2007.
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157 “Fair Value
Measurements” (“SFAS 157”). SFAS 157 introduces a framework for measuring fair value and expands required disclosure about fair value measurements
of assets and liabilities. On February 6, 2008, the FASB issued a final FASB Staff Position (“FSP”) No. FAS 157-b, “ Effective Date of FASB Statement
No. 157”. This FSP delays the effective date of SFAS 157 for all non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities, except those that are recognized or
disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis. In addition, the FSP removes certain leasing transactions from the scope of SFAS 157.
The effective date of SFAS 157 for non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities has been delayed by one year to fiscal years beginning after November
15, 2008 and interim periods within those fiscal years. SFAS 157 for financial assets and liabilities is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15,

2007, and the Company prospectively adopted the standard for those assets and liabilities as of January 1, 2008. See Note 6 in Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements and Part 1—Item 1—Fair Value Disclosures.

21

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities, including an
amendment of FASB Statement No. 115” (“SFAS 159”), which permits companies to choose, at specified dates, to measure certain eligible financial
instruments at fair value. The objective of SFAS 159 is to reduce volatility in preparer reporting that may be caused as a result of measuring related financial
assets and liabilities differently and to expand the use of fair value measurements. The provisions of SFAS 159 apply only to entities that elect to use the fair
value option and to all entities with available-for-sale and trading securities. Additional disclosures are also required for instruments for which the fair value
option is elected. SFAS 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. No retrospective application is allowed, except for companies that
choose to adopt early. At the effective date, companies may elect the fair value option for eligible items that exist at that date, and the effect of the first
remeasurement to fair value must be reported as a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings. Effective January 1, 2008, the
Company adopted SFAS 159 and the adoption did not have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

New Pronouncements Issued But Not Yet Adopted
In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (revised 2007), “Business Combinations” (“SFAS 141(R)”), which replaces FASB Statement
No. 141. SFAS 141(R) establishes principles and requirements for how an acquirer recognizes and measures in its financial statements the identifiable assets
acquired, the liabilities assumed, any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the goodwill acquired. The Statement also establishes disclosure requirements
that will enable users to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business combination. SFAS 141(R) is effective for acquisitions that occur in an
entity’s fiscal year that begins after December 15, 2008, which will be our fiscal year 2009. The impact, if any, on the consolidated financial statements will
depend on the nature and size of business combinations that we consummate after the effective date.
In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, “Non-controlling Interests in Consolidated Financial statements—an amendment of ARB
No. 51” (“SFAS 160”). SFAS 160 requires that accounting and reporting for minority interests will be recharacterized as non-controlling interests and
classified as a component of equity. SFAS 160 also establishes reporting requirements that provide sufficient disclosures that clearly identify and distinguish
between the interests of the parent and the interests of the non-controlling owners. SFAS 160 applies to all entities that prepare consolidated financial
statements, except not-for-profit organizations, but will affect only those entities that have an outstanding non-controlling interest in one or more subsidiaries or
that deconsolidate a subsidiary. This statement is effective as of the beginning of an entity’s first fiscal year beginning after December 15, 2008, which will be

our fiscal year 2009. Based upon the June 30, 2008 balance sheet, SFAS 160 would have no impact on the consolidated financial statements.
In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, “Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” (“ SFAS 161”). SFAS
161 is intended to improve financial reporting about derivative instruments and hedging activities by requiring enhanced disclosures to enable investors to
better understand their effects on an entity’s financial position, financial performance, and cash flows. SFAS 161 achieves these improvements by requiring
disclosure of the fair values of derivative instruments and their gains and losses in a tabular format. It also provides more information about an entity’s
liquidity by requiring disclosure of derivative features that are credit risk-related. Finally, it requires cross-referencing within footnotes to enable financial
statement users to locate important information about derivative instruments. SFAS 161 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years and interim
periods beginning after November 15, 2008, with early application encouraged. We are evaluating the impact of SFAS 161 on our consolidated financial
statements.
In May 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 162, “The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles ” (“SFAS 162”). SFAS 162
identifies a consistent framework, or hierarchy, for selecting accounting principles to be used in preparing financial statements that are presented in conformity
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles for non-governmental entities (the “Hierarchy”). The Hierarchy within SFAS 162 is consistent with that
previously defined in the AICPA Statement on Auditing Standards No. 69, “The Meaning of Present Fairly in Conformity With Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles.” SFAS 162 is effective 60 days following the United States Securities and Exchange Commission’s approval of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board amendments to AU Section 411, “The Meaning of Present Fairly in Conformity With Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles.” The adoption of SFAS 162 is not expected to have any effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations, or cash
flows.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
We have utilized private equity, proceeds from bank borrowings, cash flow from operations and, with our recent IPO, the public equity markets for
capital resources and liquidity. To date, the primary use of capital has been for the acquisition and development of natural gas and oil properties; however, as
a result of our IPO, we expect to distribute to unitholders a significant portion of our free cash flow. As we execute our business strategy, we will continually
monitor the capital resources available to us to meet future financial obligations, planned capital expenditures, acquisition capital and distributions to our
unitholders. Our future success in growing reserves, production and cash flow will be highly dependent on the capital resources available to us and our
success in drilling for or acquiring additional reserves. We expect to fund our maintenance capital expenditures and distributions to unitholders with cash flow
from operations, while funding any acquisition capital expenditures that we might incur with borrowings under our reserve-based credit facility and publicly
offered equity, depending on market conditions. As of August 12, 2008, we have $18.5 million available to be borrowed under our reserve-based credit
facility. However, the borrowing base must be redetermined after giving effect to the natural gas and oil properties acquired in July 2008 in South Texas and the
amount of availability is expected to increase as a result. Based upon current expectations, we believe existing liquidity and capital resources will be sufficient
for the conduct of our business and operations for the foreseeable future.
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Cash Flow from Operations
Net cash provided by operating activities for the six months ended June 30, 2008 was $17.5 million, compared to cash used in operating activities of
$2.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2007. The increase in cash provided by operating activities during the six months ended June 30, 2008 was
substantially due to increased income and a decrease in cash used in price risk management activities. The cash used in operating activities in the first six
months of 2007 included the termination of existing natural gas swaps at a cost of approximately $2.8 million, cash paid on early extinguishment of debt of
approximately $2.5 million and the payment of $6.5 million for put option derivative contracts.

Cash flow from operations is subject to many variables, the most significant of which is the volatility of natural gas and oil prices. Natural gas and
oil prices are determined primarily by prevailing market conditions, which are dependent on regional and worldwide economic activity, weather and other
factors beyond our control. Future cash flow from operations will depend on our ability to maintain and increase production through our drilling program and
acquisitions, as well as the prices received for production. We enter into derivative arrangements to reduce the impact of commodity price volatility on
operations. Currently, we use a combination of fixed-price swaps and NYMEX collars and put options to reduce our exposure to the volatility in natural gas
and oil prices. See Note 5 in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and Part 1—Item 3—Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
—Commodity Price Risk for details about derivatives in place through 2012.
Cash Flow from Investing Activities
Cash used in investing activities was approximately $73.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2008, compared to $6.6 million for the six
months ended June 30, 2007. The increase in cash used in investing activities was primarily attributable to $66.4 million used for the acquisition of natural
gas and oil properties in the Permian Basin. In addition, the total for the six months ended June 30, 2008 includes $6.7 million for the drilling and
development of natural gas and oil properties as compared to $6.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2007.
Cash Flow from Financing Activities
Cash provided by financing activities was approximately $56.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2008, compared to $12.2 million for the
six months ended June 30, 2007. During the six months ended June 30, 2008, total proceeds from borrowings under our reserve-based credit facility were $74.4
million which were principally used to fund the Permian Basin acquisition. During the six months ended June 30, 2007, total proceeds from borrowings under
our reserve-based credit facility were $114.6 million, which was principally used to pay off our Predecessor’s outstanding borrowings. Additionally, during
the six months ended June 30, 2007, we completed a private equity offering for $41.2 million and used the net proceeds of this private equity offering to make
a distribution to Majeed S. Nami, VNR’s largest unitholder.
Reserve-Based Credit Facility

On January 3, 2007, our operating company, Vanguard Natural Gas, LLC (formerly Nami Holding Company, LLC), entered into a reserve-based
credit facility under which our initial borrowing base was set at $115.5 million. Our reserve-based credit facility was amended and restated in February 2008
to extend the maturity date from January 2011 to March 2011, increase the facility amount from $200.0 million to $400.0 million, increase our borrowing base
from $110.5 million to $150.0 million and add two additional financial institutions as lenders. The increase in the borrowing base was principally the result
of inclusion of the reserves related to the Permian Basin acquisition in January 2008. As a result, as of June 30, 2008, we had $102.5 million outstanding
under our reserve-based credit facility and as of August 12, 2008, we have $18.5 million available to be borrowed. However, the borrowing base must be
redetermined after giving effect to the natural gas and oil properties acquired in July 2008 in South Texas and the amount of availability is expected to increase
as a result. Borrowings under the reserve-based credit facility are available for development, exploitation and acquisition of natural gas and oil properties,
working capital and general limited liability company purposes. Our obligations under the reserve-based credit facility are secured by substantially all of our
assets.
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At our election, interest is determined by reference to:

·

the London interbank offered rate, or LIBOR, plus an applicable margin between 1.00% and 1.75% per annum; or

·

a domestic bank rate plus an applicable margin between 0.00% and 0.75% per annum.

Interest is generally payable quarterly for domestic bank rate loans and at the applicable maturity date for LIBOR loans, but not less frequently than
quarterly.

The reserve-based credit facility contains various covenants that limit our ability to:

·

incur indebtedness;

·

grant certain liens;

·

make certain loans, acquisitions, capital expenditures and investments;

·

make distributions;

·

merge or consolidate; or

·

engage in certain asset dispositions, including a sale of all or substantially all of our assets.

The reserve-based credit facility also contains covenants that, among other things, require us to maintain specified ratios or conditions as follows:

·

consolidated net income plus interest expense, income taxes, depreciation, depletion, amortization, changes in fair value of derivative
instruments and other similar charges, minus all non-cash income added to consolidated net income, and giving pro forma effect to any
acquisitions or capital expenditures, to interest expense of not less than 2.5 to 1.0;

·

consolidated current assets, including the unused amount of the total commitments, to consolidated current liabilities of not less than 1.0 to
1.0, excluding non-cash assets and liabilities under SFAS No. 133, which includes the current portion of derivative contracts;

·

consolidated debt to consolidated net income plus interest expense, income taxes, depreciation, depletion, amortization, changes in fair value
of derivative instruments and other similar charges, minus all non-cash income added to consolidated net income, and giving pro forma
effect to any acquisitions or capital expenditures of not more than 4.0 to 1.0.

We have the ability to borrow under the reserve-based credit facility to pay distributions to unitholders as long as there has not been a default or event
of default and if the amount of borrowings outstanding under our reserve-based credit facility is less than 90% of the borrowing base.
We believe that we are in compliance with the terms of our reserve-based credit facility. If an event of default exists under the reserve-based credit
agreement, the lenders will be able to accelerate the maturity of the credit agreement and exercise other rights and remedies. Each of the following will be an
event of default:

·

failure to pay any principal when due or any interest, fees or other amount within certain grace periods;
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·

a representation or warranty is proven to be incorrect when made;

·

failure to perform or otherwise comply with the covenants in the credit agreement or other loan documents, subject, in certain instances, to
certain grace periods;

·

default by us on the payment of any other indebtedness in excess of $2.0 million, or any event occurs that permits or causes the acceleration
of the indebtedness;

·

bankruptcy or insolvency events involving us or our subsidiaries;

·

the entry of, and failure to pay, one or more adverse judgments in excess of $1.0 million or one or more non-monetary judgments that could
reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect and for which enforcement proceedings are brought or that are not stayed pending

appeal;

·

specified events relating to our employee benefit plans that could reasonably be expected to result in liabilities in excess of $1.0 million in any
year; and

·

a change of control, which includes (1) an acquisition of ownership, directly or indirectly, beneficially or of record, by any person or group
(within the meaning of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the rules of the Securities Exchange Commission) of equity interests
representing more than 25% of the aggregate ordinary voting power represented by our issued and outstanding equity interests other than by
Majeed S. Nami or his affiliates, or (2) the replacement of a majority of our directors by persons not approved by our board of directors.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
At June 30, 2008, the Company did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have, or are reasonably likely to have, an effect on our
financial position or results of operations.
Contingencies

The Company regularly analyzes current information and accrues for probable liabilities on the disposition of certain matters, as necessary.
Liabilities for loss contingencies arising from claims, assessments, litigation and other sources are recorded when it is probable that a liability has been
incurred and the amount can be reasonably estimated. As of June 30, 2008, there were no loss contingencies.

Commitments and Contractual Obligations
A summary of our contractual obligations as of June 30, 2008 is provided in the following table:

Payments Due by Year (in thousands)
2008

Management compensation
Long-term debt
Operating leases

$

Total

$

2010

2009

300 $

600 $

—

—

20

41

320 $

25

641 $

100 $

2011

— $
—
102,500
10
—
110 $ 102,500 $

After
2012

2012

— $
—
—
— $

Total
— $
1,000
—
102,500
—
71
— $ 103,571

Non-GAAP Financial Measure

Adjusted EBITDA
We define Adjusted EBITDA as net income (loss) plus:

•

Net interest expense (including write-off of deferred financing fees);

•

Loss on extinguishment of debt;

•

Depreciation, depletion and amortization (including accretion of asset retirement obligations);

•

Bad debt expenses;

•

Amortization of premiums paid and non-cash settlement on derivative contracts;

•

Change in fair value of derivative contracts;

•

Unit-based compensation expense; and

•

Realized (gain) loss on cancelled derivatives.

Adjusted EBITDA is a significant performance metric used by our management to measure (prior to the establishment of any cash reserves by our
board of directors) the cash distributions we could pay our unitholders. Specifically, this financial measure indicates to investors whether or not we are
generating cash flow at a level that can sustain or support an increase in our quarterly distribution rates. Adjusted EBITDA is also a quantitative standard
used throughout the investment community with respect to publicly-traded partnerships and limited liability companies.

Our EBITDA should not be considered as an alternative to net income, operating income, cash flow from operating activities or any other measure of
financial performance or liquidity presented in accordance with GAAP. Our Adjusted EBITDA excludes some, but not all, items that affect net income and
operating income and these measures may vary among other companies. Therefore, our Adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly titled measures
of other companies.
For the three months ended June 30, 2008 as compared to the three months ended June 30, 2007, Adjusted EBITDA increased 49%, from $8.0
million to $11.9 million. For the six months ended June 30, 2008 as compared to the six months ended June 30, 2007, Adjusted EBITDA increased 50%,
from $14.9 million to $22.4 million. The following table presents a reconciliation of consolidated net income to adjusted EBITDA:

Three Months Ended
June 30,
2007

2008

Net income
Plus:

$

5,164,168

$

2,239,906

2007

2008

$

9,440,188

$

614,157

—

2,196,691
—
2,291,426
—

2,374,110
—
6,154,002
—

4,419,814
2,501,528
4,320,289
1,007,458

1,230,584
981,002
—

733,504

563,143
—

2,531,193
1,896,347
—

563,143
776,633

4,394
11,945,834

14,679
8,009,991

12,008
22,383,832

27,646
14,908,880

1,244,450
—

Interest expense
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Depreciation, depletion and amortization
Bad debt expense
Amortization of premiums paid and non-cash settlement on
derivative contracts
Non-cash compensation expense
Realized loss on cancelled derivatives

Six Months Ended
June 30,

3,330,024

733,504

Less:
Interest income

Adjusted EBITDA

$
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$

$

$

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The primary objective of the following information is to provide forward-looking quantitative and qualitative information about our potential
exposure to market risks. The term “market risk” refers to the risk of loss arising from adverse changes in natural gas prices and interest rates. The
disclosures are not meant to be precise indicators of expected future losses, but rather indicators of reasonably possible losses. This forward-looking
information provides indicators of how we view and manage our ongoing market risk exposures. All of our market risk sensitive instruments were entered into
for purposes other than speculative trading.

Commodity Price Risk
Our major market risk exposure is in the pricing applicable to our natural gas and oil production. Realized pricing is primarily driven by the
Columbia Gas Appalachian Index (“TECO Index”) for natural gas production and the West Texas Intermediate Light Sweet for oil production. Pricing for
natural gas production has been volatile and unpredictable for several years, and we expect this volatility to continue in the future. The prices we receive for
production depend on many factors outside our control.
We enter into hedging arrangements with respect to a portion of our projected natural gas and oil production through various transactions that hedge
the future prices received. These transactions may include price swaps whereby we will receive a fixed-price for our production and pay a variable market
price to the contract counterparty. Additionally, we have put options for which we pay the counterparty the fair value at the purchase date. At the settlement date
we receive the excess, if any, of the fixed floor over the floating rate. Furthermore, we may enter into collars where we pay the counterparty if the market price is
above the ceiling and the counterparty pays us if the market price is below the floor on a notional quantity. These hedging activities are intended to support our
realized commodity prices at targeted levels and to manage our exposure to natural gas and oil price fluctuations. We do not hold or issue derivative
instruments for speculative trading purposes.

At June 30, 2008, the fair value of hedges that settle during the next twelve months was a liability of approximately $27.1 million, which we will owe
our counterparties.

The following table summarizes derivatives in place applicable to periods subsequent to June 30, 2008.

July 1, September 30,

October 1, December 31,

2008

2008

Year 2009

Year 2010

Year 2011

Year 2012

Gas Positions:
Fixed Price Swaps:
Hedged Volume (MMBtu)
Fixed Price ($/MMBtu)

$

738,608
9.00 $

713,831
9.00 $

2,657,046
8.85 $

2,387,640
8.76 $

2,196,012
7.15 $

-—

—

$

314,391
7.50 $

246,920
7.50 $

840,139
7.50 $

—
— $

—
— $

—
—

730,000
8.00 $

—
— $
— $

—
—
—

Puts:
Hedged Volume (MMBtu)
Floor Price ($/MMBtu)

Collars:
Hedged Volume (MMBtu)
Floor Price ($/MMBtu)
Ceiling Price ($/MMBtu)
Total:
Hedged Volume (MMBtu)

Oil Positions:
Fixed Price Swaps:
Hedged Volume (Bbls)
Fixed Price ($/Bbl)

300,000

$
$

300,000

9.00 $
9.00 $

1,352,999

9.00 $

9.25 $
1,260,751

49,500
$

48,000
90.30 $

90.30 $

27

1,000,000

7.50 $
9.00 $
4,497,185

181,500
87.23 $

9.30 $

3,117,640

164,250
85.65 $

2,196,012

151,250
85.50 $

—

144,000
80.00

Interest Rate Risks
At June 30, 2008, we had debt outstanding of $102.5 million, which incurred interest at floating rates based on LIBOR in accordance with our
reserve-based credit facility and if the debt remains the same, a 1% increase in LIBOR would result in an estimated $0.4 million increase in annual interest
expense after consideration of the interest hedges discussed below. In December 2007 and during the first quarter of 2008, we entered into interest rate swaps,
which require payment to or from the counterparty based upon the differential between two rates for a predetermined contractual amount. This hedging activity
converts a floating interest rate to a fixed interest rate and is intended to manage our exposure to interest rate fluctuations.

The following summarizes information concerning our positions in open interest rate swaps applicable to periods subsequent to
June 30, 2008.

Principal
Balance

Fixed
Libor
Rates

Period:

$
$
$

July 1, 2008 to December 10, 2010
July 1, 2008 to January 31, 2011
July 1, 2008 to March 31, 2011

20,000,000
30,000,000
10,000,000

3.88%
3.00%

2.66%

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our management has established and maintains a system of disclosure controls and procedures to provide reasonable assurances that information
required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time
periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Rule 13a-15 under the Exchange Act as of June 30, 2008,
and concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level as of June 30, 2008.
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
On January 31, 2008, we completed the acquisition of certain oil and gas properties in the Permian Basin of West Texas and Southeastern New
Mexico. Pursuant to this transaction, we have outsourced our production accounting for the Permian Basin properties to a third party and have begun
operating our own wells. As a result, we are implementing new processes and modifying existing processes to ensure adequate internal controls over financial
reporting.
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PART II — OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings
Although we may, from time to time, be involved in litigation and claims arising out of our operations in the normal course of business, we are not
currently a party to any material legal proceedings. In addition, we are not aware of any legal or government proceedings against us, or contemplated to be
brought against us, under the various environmental statutes to which we are subject.

Item 1A. Risk Factors
There have been no material changes to our risk factors as disclosed in our 2007 Annual Report on Form 10-K .

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
During the six months ended June 30, 2008, one of our wholly-owned subsidiaries purchased 20,300 of our common units on the open market at
the then prevailing market price. 15,000 of these units were subsequently granted to three of our independent directors, with Loren Singletary, John R.
McGoldrick and Bruce W. McCullough each receiving 5,000 units. The grants were made by our Board of Directors upon the appointment of these
independent directors on February 28, 2008. The following table summarizes the unit purchases that occurred during the six months ended June 30, 2008:

Number of
common units
repurchased

Period

January 1, 2008 to January 31, 2008
February 1, 2008 to February 29, 2008
March 1, 2008 to March 31, 2008
April 1, 2008 to April 30, 2008
May 1, 2008 to May 31, 2008
June 1, 2008 to June 30, 2008

5,000
10,000
300

Average price
paid per
common unit

$
$
$

14.50
16.28

$
$

16.97
15.99

14.70
N/A
N/A

—
—
5,000

Total common units purchased

20,300

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities
None.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

The annual meeting of unitholders of Vanguard Natural Resources, LLC was held on June 10, 2008 in Houston, Texas. At the annual meeting,
holders of 11,215,000 units were entitled to vote on the specified unitholder matters, of which 10,145,022 units were present and voting, or 90% of the
outstanding units, which constituted a quorum.
Proposals submitted to a vote of the unitholders were:
(1) The election of seven directors of Vanguard Natural Resources, LLC for a one-year term expiring at the 2009 annual meeting of unitholders and
until their respective successors are elected and qualified.

Number of Voting Units
Director’s Name

For

10,143,118
10,143,118
10,143,118
10,143,118
10,143,118
10,143,118
10,143,118

Scott W. Smith
W. Richard Anderson
Loren Singletary
Bruce W. McCullough
John R. McGoldrick
Lasse Wagene
Thomas Blake
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Withheld

1,904
1,904
1,904
1,904
1,904
1,904
1,904

(2) The ratification of UHY LLP as our independent registered public accountants for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008.

Against
1,700

For

10,142,822

Abstained
500

Item 5. Other Information
Indemnification Agreements

On August 7, 2008 Vanguard Natural Resources, LLC entered into Indemnification Agreements (each, an “Indemnification Agreement”) with each
independent director of Vanguard Natural Resources, LLC (each, an “Indemnitee”). Each Indemnification Agreement provides that Vanguard Natural
Resources, LLC will indemnify and hold harmless each Indemnitee against Expenses (as defined in the Indemnification Agreement) to the fullest extent
permitted or authorized by law, including the Delaware Limited Liability Company Act in effect on the date of the agreement or as such laws may be amended
to provide more advantageous rights to the Indemnitee.

The foregoing description of the Indemnification Agreements is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the Form of Indemnification
Agreement, which is attached as Exhibit 10.32 to this Form 10-Q and incorporated herein by reference.
Item 6. Exhibits
EXHIBIT INDEX

Each exhibit identified below is filed as a part of this Report.
Exhibit
No.
3.1
3.2

Exhibit Title
Certificate of Formation of Vanguard Natural Resources, LLC

Incorporated by Reference to the Following
Form S-1/A, filed April 25, 2007 (File No. 333-142363)

Second Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of
Vanguard Natural Resources, LLC (including specimen unit certificate for the

Form 8-K, filed November 2, 2007 (File No. 001-33756)

units)
10.1

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated February 14, 2008, by and
between Nami Holding Company, LLC, Citibank, N.A., as administrative
agent and L/C issuer and the lenders party thereto

Previously filed with our Form 10-K on March 31, 2008

10.2

Vanguard Natural Resources, LLC Long-Term Incentive Plan

Form 8-K, filed October 24, 2007 (File No. 001-33756)

10.3

Form of Vanguard Natural Resources, LLC Long-Term Incentive Plan
Phantom Options Grant Agreement

Form S-1/A, filed April 25, 2007 (File No. 333-142363)

10.4

Vanguard Natural Resources, LLC Class B Unit Plan

Form 8-K, filed October 24, 2007 (File No. 001-33756)

10.5

Form of Vanguard Natural Resources, LLC Class B Unit Plan Restricted

Form S-1/A, filed April 25, 2007 (File No. 333-142363)

Class B Unit Grant

10.6

Management Services Agreement, effective January 5, 2007, by and between
Vinland Energy Operations, LLC, Vanguard Natural Gas, LLC, Trust Energy

Form S-1/A, filed April 25, 2007 (File No. 333-142363)

Company, LLC and Ariana Energy, LLC
10.7

Participation Agreement, effective January 5, 2007, by and between Vinland
Energy Eastern, LLC, Vanguard Natural Gas, LLC, Trust Energy Company,
LLC and Ariana Energy, LLC

Form S-1/A, filed April 25, 2007 (File No. 333-142363)

10.8

Gathering and Compression Agreement, effective January 5, 2007, by and
between Vinland Energy Gathering, LLC, Vinland Energy Eastern, LLC,
Vanguard Natural Gas, LLC and Ariana Energy, LLC

Form S-1/A, filed April 25, 2007 (File No. 333-142363)

10.9

Gathering and Compression Agreement, effective January 5, 2007, by and
between Vinland Energy Gathering, LLC, Vinland Energy Eastern, LLC,
Vanguard Natural Gas, LLC and Trust Energy Company

Form S-1/A, filed April 25, 2007 (File No. 333-142363)

10.10

Gathering and Compression Agreement, effective January 5, 2007, by and
between Vinland Energy Gathering, LLC and Nami Resources Company,

Form S-1/A, filed April 25, 2007 (File No. 333-142363)

L.L.C.

10.11

Well Services Agreement, effective January 5, 2007, by and between Vinland

Form S-1/A, filed April 25, 2007 (File No. 333-142363)

Energy Operations, LLC, Vanguard Natural Gas, LLC and Ariana Energy,
LLC
10.12

Well Services Agreement, effective January 5, 2007, by and between Vinland

Form S-1/A, filed April 25, 2007 (File No. 333-142363)

Energy Operations, LLC, Vanguard Natural Gas, LLC and Trust Energy
Company, LLC
10.13

Well Services Agreement, effective January 5, 2007, by and between Vinland

Energy Operations, LLC and Nami Resources Company, L.L.C.
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Form S-1/A, filed April 25, 2007 (File No. 333-142363)

10.14

Amended and Restated Operating Agreement by and between Vinland Energy
Operations, LLC, Vinland Energy Eastern, LLC and Ariana Energy, LLC,
dated October 2, 2007 and effective as of January 5, 2007

Form S-1/A, filed October 22, 2007 (File No. 333-142363)

10.15

Operating Agreement, effective January 5, 2007, by and between Vinland
Energy Operations, LLC, Vinland Energy Eastern, LLC and Trust Energy

Form S-1/A, filed April 25, 2007 (File No. 333-142363)

Company, LLC

10.16

Amended and Restated Indemnity Agreement by and between Nami Resources

Company, L.L.C., Vinland Energy Eastern, LLC, Trust Energy Company,
LLC, Vanguard Natural Gas, LLC and Vanguard Natural Resources, LLC,
dated September 11, 2007
10.17

Revenue Payment Agreement by and between Nami Resources Company,

Form S-1/A, filed September 18, 2007 (File No. 333142363)

Form S-1/A, filed August 21, 2007 (File No. 333-142363)

L.L.C. and Trust Energy Company, dated April 18, 2007 and effective as of
January 5, 2007
10.18

Gas Supply Agreement, dated April 18, 2007, by and between Nami Resources
Company, L.L.C. and Trust Energy Company

Form S-1/A, filed April 25, 2007 (File No. 333-142363)

10.19

Amended Employment Agreement, dated April 18, 2007, by and between Scott
W. Smith, VNR Holdings, LLC and Vanguard Natural Resources, LLC

Form S-1/A, filed April 25, 2007 (File No. 333-142363)

10.20

Amended Employment Agreement, dated April 18, 2007, by and between
Richard A. Robert, VNR Holdings, LLC and Vanguard Natural Resources,
LLC

Form S-1/A, filed April 25, 2007 (File No. 333-142363)

10.21

Registration Rights Agreement, dated April 18, 2007, between Vanguard
Natural Resources, LLC and the private investors named therein

Form S-1/A, filed April 25, 2007 (File No. 333-142363)

10.22

Purchase Agreement, dated April 18, 2007, between Vanguard Natural
Resources, LLC, Majeed S. Nami and the private investors named therein

Form S-1/A, filed April 25, 2007 (File No. 333-142363)

10.23

Omnibus Agreement, dated October 29, 2007, among Majeed S. Nami,
Vanguard Natural Resources, LLC, Vanguard Natural Gas, LLC, Ariana
Energy, LLC and Trust Energy Company, LLC.

Form 8-K, filed November 2, 2007 (File No. 001-33756)

10.24

Employment Agreement, dated May 15, 2007, by and between Britt Pence,
VNR Holdings, LLC and Vanguard Natural Resources, LLC

Form S-1/A, filed July 5, 2007 (File No. 333-142363)

10.25

Natural Gas Contract, dated May 26, 2003, between Nami Resources
Company, Inc. and Osram Sylvania Products, Inc.

Form S-1/A, filed August 21, 2007 (File No. 333-142363)

10.26

Natural Gas Purchase Contract, dated December 16, 2004, between Nami
Resources Company, LLC and Dominion Field Services, Inc.

Form S-1/A, filed August 21, 2007 (File No. 333-142363)

10.27

Natural Gas Purchase Contract, dated December 28, 2004, between Nami
Resources Company, LLC and Dominion Field Services, Inc.

Form S-1/A, filed August 21, 2007 (File No. 333-142363)

10.28

Director Compensation Agreement

Form S-1/A, filed September 18, 2007 (File No. 333142363)

10.29

Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated December 21, 2007, among Vanguard
Permian, LLC and Apache Corporation

Form 8-K/A, filed February 13, 2008 (File No. 001-33756)

10.30

Amended Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated January 31, 2008, among
Vanguard Permian, LLC and Apache Corporation

Form 8-K/A, filed February 4, 2008 (File No. 001-33756)

10.31

Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated July 18, 2008, among Vanguard Permian,
LLC and Segundo Navarro Drilling, Ltd.

Form 8-K, filed July 21, 2008 (File No. 001-33756)

10.32

Form of Indemnity Agreement dated August 7, 2008

Filed herewith

31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a — 14 of the
Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Filed herewith

31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a — 14 of the
Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Filed herewith

32.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Filed herewith

32.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Filed herewith
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Vanguard Natural Resources, LLC has duly caused this report to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
VANGUARD NATURAL RESOURCES, LLC
(Registrant)
Date: August 13, 2008

/s/ Richard A. Robert
Richard A. Robert
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)
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EXHIBIT 10.32

INDEMNITY AGREEMENT

This Indemnity Agreement (this “Agreement”), dated as of August 7, 2008, is made by and between Vanguard Natural Resources, LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company (the “Company”), and ______________________________ (the “Indemnitee”), an “Agent” (as hereinafter defined) of
the Company.
RECITALS
A. The Company recognizes that competent and experienced persons are increasingly reluctant to serve as Directors, officers or employees
of companies unless they are protected by comprehensive liability insurance or indemnification, or both, due to increased exposure to litigation costs and risks
resulting from their service to such companies, and due to the fact that the exposure frequently bears no reasonable relationship to their compensation;

B. The statutes and judicial decisions regarding the duties of Directors and officers are often difficult to apply, ambiguous, or conflicting,
and therefore fail to provide such Directors and officers with adequate, reliable knowledge of legal risks to which they are exposed or information regarding the
proper course of action to take;
C. The Company and the Indemnitee recognize that plaintiffs often seek damages in such large amounts and the costs of litigation may be
so expensive (whether or not the case is meritorious), that the defense and/or settlement of such litigation is often beyond the personal resources of Directors,
officers and employees;
D. The Company believes that it is often unfair for its Directors, officers and employees to assume the risk of judgments and other
expenses which may occur in cases in which the Director, officer or employee has acted in good faith and in a manner the Director, officer or employee
reasonably believes to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Company;

E. The Company desires the Indemnitee to serve or continue to serve as an Agent of the Company and recognizes that the Indemnitee may
not be willing to serve or continue to serve the Company without additional indemnification and insurance to protect against claims for damages arising out of
or related to such services to the Company;
F. The Company believes that the interests of the Company and its shareholders would best be served by a combination of Directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance and the indemnification by the Company of the Directors, officers and employees of the Company; and

G. The Board of Directors has determined that contractual indemnification as set forth in this Agreement is reasonable and prudent, and is
necessary to promote the best interests of the Company and its shareholders.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements set forth below, the parties to this Agreement, intending to
be legally bound, hereby agree as follows:
1. Definitions
(a) Agent. For purposes of this Agreement, “Agent” of the Company means any person who is or was a Director, officer,
employee or other agent of the Company or a Subsidiary of the Company; or is or was serving at the request of, for the convenience of, or to
represent the interests of the Company or a Subsidiary of the Company as a Director, officer, employee or agent of another foreign or domestic
corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or Other Enterprise.

(b) Expenses . For purposes of this Agreement, “Expenses” includes all direct and indirect costs of any type or nature
whatsoever (including, without limitation, all attorneys’ fees and related disbursements, other out-of-pocket costs and reasonable compensation for
time spent by the Indemnitee for which he is not otherwise compensated by the Company or any third party, provided that the rate of compensation,
if any, and estimated time involved is approved in advance by a majority vote of the Board of Directors), actually and reasonably incurred by the
Indemnitee in connection with either the investigation, defense or appeal of a Proceeding or establishing or enforcing a right to indemnification under
this Agreement or otherwise, and amounts paid in settlement (if such settlement is approved in advance by the Company) by or on behalf of the
Indemnitee, but shall not include any judgments, fines or penalties actually levied against the Indemnitee.
(c) Proceeding . For the purposes of this Agreement, “Proceeding” means any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or
other proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative, investigative or any other type whatsoever.

(d) Subsidiary . For purposes of this Agreement, “Subsidiary” means any corporation of which 50% or more of the outstanding
voting securities are owned directly or indirectly by the Company, by the Company and one or more other subsidiaries, or by one or more other
subsidiaries.
(e) Other Enterprise . For purposes of this Agreement, “Other Enterprise” means any other enterprise and shall include employee
benefit plans; references to “fines” shall include any excise tax assessed with respect to any employee benefit plans; references to “serving at the
request of the Company” shall include any service as an Agent of the Company which imposes duties on, or involves services by, such Director,
officer, employee or Agent of the Company with respect to an employee benefit plan, its participants, or beneficiaries; any person who acts in good
faith and in a manner he reasonably believes to be in the best interest of the participants and beneficiaries of an employee benefit plan shall be deemed
to have acted in a manner “not opposed to the best interests of the Company” as referred to in this Agreement.
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2. Agreement to Serve. The Indemnitee agrees to serve and/or continue to serve as an Agent of the Company, at its will (or under separate
agreement, if such agreement exists), in the capacity the Indemnitee currently serves as an Agent of the Company, so long as he is duly appointed or elected
and qualified in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Articles of Association or comparable corporate governance document (“Articles”) of the
Company or the Articles of any Subsidiary of the Company or until such time as he tenders his resignation in writing, provided, however, that nothing
contained in this Agreement is intended to create any right in favor of the Indemnitee to continued employment in any capacity.
3. Indemnity in Third Party Proceedings . The Company shall indemnify the Indemnitee if the Indemnitee is a party to or threatened to be
made a party to or otherwise involved in any Proceeding (other than a Proceeding by or in the name of the Company to procure a judgment in its favor) by
reason of the fact that the Indemnitee is or was an Agent of the Company, or by reason of any act or inaction by him in any such capacity, against any and all
Expenses and liabilities of any type whatsoever (including, but not limited to, judgments, fines and penalties), actually and reasonably incurred by him in
connection with the investigation, defense, settlement or appeal of such Proceeding, but only in the absence of fraud, willful default or dishonesty on the part
of the Indemnitee and if the Indemnitee acted in good faith and in a manner he reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Company,
and, with respect to any criminal action or Proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe his conduct was unlawful. The termination of any Proceeding by
judgment, order of court, settlement, conviction or on plea of nolo contendere, or its equivalent, shall not, of itself, create a presumption that the Indemnitee
did not act in good faith in a manner which he reasonably believed to be in the best interests of the Company or, with respect to any criminal Proceedings, that
such person had reasonable cause to believe that his conduct was unlawful.
4. Indemnity in Derivative Actions. The Company shall indemnify the Indemnitee if the Indemnitee is a party to or threatened to be made a
party to or otherwise involved in any Proceeding by or in the name of the Company to procure a judgment in its favor by reason of the fact that the Indemnitee
is or was an Agent of the Company, or by reason of any act or inaction by him in any such capacity, against all Expenses actually and reasonably incurred
by the Indemnitee in connection with the investigation, defense, settlement, or appeal of such Proceeding, but only in the absence of fraud, willful default or
dishonesty on the part of the Indemnitee and if the Indemnitee acted in good faith and in a manner he reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best

interests of the Company, except that no indemnification under this subsection shall be made in respect of any claim, issue or matter as to which the
Indemnitee shall have been finally adjudged to be liable to the Company by a court of competent jurisdiction in the performance of his duty to the Company,
unless and only to the extent that any court in which such Proceeding was brought shall determine upon application that, despite the adjudication of liability
but in view of all the circumstances of the case, such person is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnity for such Expenses as such court shall deem proper.
5. Indemnification of Expenses of Successful Party. Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement, to the extent that the
Indemnitee has been successful on the merits or otherwise in defense of any Proceeding or in defense of any claim, issue or matter therein, including the
dismissal of an action without prejudice, the Company shall indemnify the Indemnitee against all Expenses actually and reasonably incurred in connection
with the investigation, defense or appeal of such Proceeding.
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6. Partial Indemnification . If the Indemnitee is entitled under any provision of this Agreement to indemnification by the Company for some
or a portion of any Expenses or liabilities of any type whatsoever (including, but not limited to, judgments, fines or penalties), actually and reasonably
incurred by him in the investigation, defense, settlement or appeal of a Proceeding but is not entitled, however, to indemnification for the total amount thereof,
the Company shall nevertheless indemnify the Indemnitee for the portion thereof to which the Indemnitee is entitled.

7. Advancement of Expenses . Subject to Section 10(a) below, the Company shall advance all Expenses incurred by the Indemnitee in
connection with the investigation, defense, settlement or appeal of any Proceeding to which the Indemnitee is a party or is threatened to be made a party by
reason of the fact that the Indemnitee is or was an Agent of the Company. The Indemnitee hereby undertakes to repay such amounts advanced only if, and to
the extent that, it shall ultimately be determined that the Indemnitee is not entitled to be indemnified by the Company as authorized by this Agreement. The
advances to be made under this Agreement shall be paid by the Company to or on behalf of the Indemnitee within 30 days following delivery of a written
request therefor by the Indemnitee to the Company. By execution of this Agreement, the Indemnitee agrees to repayment of the Company of such Expenses
under Section 7 if it is determined by a majority vote of the Board that the Indemnitee is not entitled to the indemnification payment; provided, however, that in
no circumstance shall the Indemnitee be required to repay the Company for Expenses as to which the Indemnitee is entitled to indemnification under this
Agreement.

8. Notice and Other Indemnification Procedures .
(a) Promptly after receipt by the Indemnitee of notice of the commencement of or the threat of commencement of any Proceeding,
the Indemnitee shall, if the Indemnitee believes that indemnification with respect thereto may be sought from the Company under this Agreement,
notify the Company of the commencement or threat of commencement thereof.

(b) Any indemnification requested by the Indemnitee under Section 3 and/or 4 of this Agreement shall be made no later than 60
days after receipt of the written request of the Indemnitee, unless a determination is made within said 60 day period (i) by the Board of Directors of
the Company by a majority vote of a quorum thereof consisting of Directors who are not parties to such Proceedings, or (ii) in the event such a
quorum is not obtainable, at the election of the Company, either by independent legal counsel in a written opinion or by a panel of arbitrators from the
American Arbitration Association (“AAA”), one of whom is selected by the Company, another of whom is selected by the Indemnitee and the last of
whom is selected by the first two arbitrators so selected, that the Indemnitee has not met the relevant standards for indemnification set forth in Section
3 and 4 of this Agreement. In the event the Indemnitee is determined not to be entitled to indemnification, the Company shall give, or cause to be given
to, the Indemnitee written notice thereof specifying the reason therefor, including any determination of fact or conclusion of law relied upon in
reaching such determination.
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(c) Notwithstanding a determination under Section 8(b) above that the Indemnitee is not entitled to indemnification with respect
to any specific Proceeding, the Indemnitee shall have the right to apply to any court of competent jurisdiction for the purpose of enforcing the
Indemnitee’s right to indemnification pursuant to this Agreement. Neither the failure of the Company (including its Board of Directors or independent
legal counsel or the panel of arbitrators) to have made a determination prior to the commencement of such action that indemnification or advances are
proper in the circumstances because the Indemnitee has met the applicable standard of conduct, nor an actual determination by the Company
(including its Board of Directors or independent legal counsel or the panel of arbitrators) that the Indemnitee has not met such applicable standard of
conduct, shall be a defense to the action or create any presumption that the Indemnitee has not met the applicable standard of conduct. In any such
proceeding, the Company will bear the burden of proof in showing that the Indemnitee’s conduct did not meet the applicable standard of conduct
provided for by this agreement, and accordingly the Indemnitee shall be deemed to have a prima facie right to indemnification under this agreement
unless the Company can prove to the court’s satisfaction that the Indemnitee’s conduct did not meet the applicable standard of conduct provided for
by this agreement or applicable law for indemnification.

(d) In the absence of fraud, willful default or dishonesty on the part of the Indemnitee, the Company shall indemnify the
Indemnitee against all Expenses incurred in connection with any hearing or Proceeding under this Section 8 unless a court of competent jurisdiction
finds that each of the claims and/or defenses of the Indemnitee in any such Proceeding was frivolous or in bad faith.

9. Insurance . The Company will obtain Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance (“D&O Insurance”) in reasonable amounts from
established and reputable insurers with respect to which the Indemnitee is named as an insured. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Agreement, the
Company shall not be obligated to indemnify the Indemnitee for Expenses, judgments, fines or penalties, which have been paid directly to or on behalf of the
Indemnitee out of the Company’s D&O Insurance. If the Company has D&O Insurance in effect at the time the Company receives from the Indemnitee any
notice of the commencement of a Proceeding, the Company shall give prompt notice of the commencement of such Proceeding to the insurers in accordance
with the procedures set forth in the policy. The Company shall thereafter take all necessary or desirable action to cause such insurers to pay, on behalf of the
Indemnitee, all amounts payable as a result of such Proceeding in accordance with the terms of such policy.
10. Exceptions . Any other provision in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, the Company shall not be obligated pursuant to the
terms of this Agreement:
(a) Claims Initiated by the Indemnitee . To indemnify or advance Expenses to the Indemnitee with respect to Proceedings or
claims initiated or brought voluntarily by the Indemnitee and not by way of defense, except with respect to Proceedings brought to establish or enforce
a right to indemnification under this Agreement or any other statute or law, but such indemnification or advancement of Expenses may be provided
by the Company in specific cases if a majority of the Board of Directors finds it to be appropriate; or
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(b) Action for Indemnification . To indemnify the Indemnitee for any Expenses incurred by the Indemnitee with respect to any
Proceeding instituted by the Indemnitee to enforce or interpret this Agreement, if a court of competent jurisdiction or a panel of arbitrators determines
that any of the material assertions made by the Indemnitee in such Proceeding was not made in good faith or was frivolous; or
(c) Unauthorized Settlements . To indemnify the Indemnitee under this Agreement for any amounts paid in settlement of a
Proceeding effected without the Company’s written consent. The Company shall not settle any Proceeding without the Indemnitee’s written consent.
Neither the Company nor the Indemnitee will unreasonably withhold consent to any proposed settlement; or

(d) Certain Matters. To indemnify the Indemnitee on account of any Proceeding with respect to (i) remuneration paid to the
Indemnitee if it is determined by judgment or other adjudication that such remuneration was in violation of law, (ii) which judgment is rendered
against the Indemnitee for an accounting of profits made from the purchase or sale by the Indemnitee of securities of the Company pursuant to the
provisions of Section 16(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or similar provisions of any federal, state or local statute, or (iii)
which it is determined by judgment or other adjudication that the Indemnitee’s conduct was knowingly fraudulent or dishonest.

11. Nonexclusivity . The provisions for indemnification and advancement of Expenses set forth in this Agreement shall not be deemed
exclusive of any other rights which the Indemnitee may have under any provision of law, the Company’s Memorandum or Articles of Association, in any
court in which a Proceeding is brought, the vote of the Company’s shareholders or disinterested Directors, other agreements or otherwise, both as to action in
his official capacity and to action in another capacity while occupying his position as an Agent of the Company, and the Indemnitee’s rights under this
Agreement shall continue after the Indemnitee has ceased acting as an Agent of the Company and shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors and
administrators of the Indemnitee.
12. Subrogation . In the event of payment under this Agreement, the Company shall be subrogated to the extent of such payment to all of the
rights of recovery of the Indemnitee, who shall execute all papers required and shall do everything that may be necessary to secure such rights, including the
execution of such documents necessary to enable the Company effectively to bring suit to enforce such rights.
13. Interpretation of Agreement. It is understood that the parties to this Agreement intend this Agreement to be interpreted and enforced so as
to provide indemnification to the Indemnitee to the fullest extent now or hereafter permitted by law.
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14. Severability . If any provision or provisions of this Agreement shall be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable for any reason
whatsoever, (i) the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions of the Agreement (including without limitation, all portions of any
paragraphs of this Agreement containing any such provision held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, that are not themselves invalid, illegal or

unenforceable) shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby, and (ii) to the fullest extent possible, the provisions of this Agreement (including, without
limitation, all portions of any paragraph of this Agreement containing any such provision held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, that are not themselves
invalid, illegal or unenforceable) shall be construed so as to give effect to the intent manifested by the provision held invalid, illegal or unenforceable and to
give effect to Section 13 of this Agreement.

15. Modification and Waiver. No supplement, modification or amendment of this Agreement shall be binding unless executed in writing by
both of the parties to this Agreement. No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed or shall constitute a waiver of any other provision
of this Agreement (whether or not similar) nor shall such waiver constitute a continuing waiver.
16. Successors and Assigns; Duration of Agreement. The terms of this Agreement shall bind, and shall inure to the benefit of, the
successors and assigns of the parties to this Agreement. This Agreement shall continue in effect so long as the Indemnitee shall be subject to any Proceeding by
reason of the fact that the Indemnitee is or was an Agent of the Company, regardless of whether the Indemnitee continues to serve as an Agent of the Company.
17. Notice. All notices, requests, demands and other communications under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed duly
given (i) if delivered by hand and receipted for by the party addressee, on the date of delivery, or (ii) if mailed by certified or registered mail with postage
prepaid, on the third business day after the mailing date. Addresses for notice to either party are as shown on the signature page of this Agreement, or as
subsequently modified by written notice.
18. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed exclusively by and construed according to the laws of Delaware. If a court of
competent jurisdiction shall make a final determination that the provisions of the law of any jurisdiction other than Delaware, govern indemnification by the
Company of its Directors and officers, then the indemnification provided under this Agreement shall in all instances be enforceable only to the extent permitted
under such law, notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary.
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COMPANY:

Vanguard Natural Resources, LLC

Name: Scott W. Smith
Title: President
Address: 7700 San Felipe,
Ste. 485
Houston, Texas 77063

INDEMNITEE:

By:
Name:
Title:
Address:
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EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, Scott W. Smith, President and Chief Executive Officer of Vanguard Natural Resources, LLC, certify that:

1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Vanguard Natural Resources, LLC;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this Report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
Report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this Report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this Report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this Report is being prepared;

(b)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this Report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this Report based on such evaluation; and

(c)

Disclosed in this Report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: August 13, 2008

/s/ Scott W. Smith
Scott W. Smith
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
Vanguard Natural Resources, LLC

EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION
I, Richard A. Robert, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Vanguard Natural Resources, LLC, certify that:

1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Vanguard Natural Resources, LLC;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this Report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
Report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this Report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this Report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this Report is being prepared;

(b)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this Report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this Report based on such evaluation; and

(c)

Disclosed in this Report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: August 13, 2008

/s/ Richard A. Robert
Richard A. Robert
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
Vanguard Natural Resources, LLC

EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the accompanying Quarterly Report of Vanguard Natural Resources, LLC (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period
ended June 30, 2008 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Scott W. Smith, President
and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C § 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, that:

1.

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2.

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Scott W. Smith
Scott W. Smith
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

August 13, 2008

EXHIBIT 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the accompanying Quarterly Report of Vanguard Natural Resources, LLC (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period
ended June 30, 2008 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Richard A. Robert,
Executive Vice-President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C § 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1.

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2.

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company

/s/ Richard A. Robert
Richard A. Robert
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

August 13, 2008

